
BEFORE THE BOARD OF DISCIPLINARY APPEALS 
APPOINTED BY 

THE SUPREME COURT OF TEXAS 

IN THE MATTER OF 
HON. SUZANNE H. WOOTEN 
STATE BAR CARD NO.: 00794881 

§ 
§ CAUSE NO.: 50489 
§ 

MOTION TO VACATE AND SET ASIDE ORDER OF SUSPENSION 

TO THE HONORABLE BOARD OF DISCIPLINARY APPEALS: 

Now comes Judge Suzanne H. Wooten, Respondent, through her counsel, and files this 

Motion to Vacate and Set Aside Order of Suspension, and shows the following: 

1. In November, 2011, Respondent was convicted of9 felony offenses in Collin County, 

Texas under Cause No. 366-86139-2011. The Respondent was sentenced to 10 years' 

probation and a $10,000.00 fine. The State Bar of Texas, through its Chief Disciplinary 

Counsel, filed a Compulsory Discipline Petition with this Board to Disbar Respondent 

from the practice of law due to those convictions. 

2. In October, 2012, this Board, after a lengthy contested hearing, voted to suspend 

Respondent from the practice of law instead of entering an Order of Disbarment. The 

Order of Suspension from the practice of law was from October 24,2012 - December 

12,2021. 

3. On December 14, 2016, the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals unanimously acquitted 

two co-defendants in the Respondent's criminal case, ruling that the charges in these 

cases were not crimes under Texas law. See, Stacy Stine Cary v. State, 507 S.W.3d 750 

(Tex. Crim. App. 2016), DavidCaryv. State, 507 S.W.3d 761 (Tex. Crim. App. 2016). 

The charges against those co-defendants were substantially identical to the charges 

brought against the Respondent. 
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4. On March 9, 2017, undersigned counsel filed an "11.072 Writ of Habeas Corpus 

Declaring Actual Innocence as a Matter of Law." On May 10,2017, an "Amended 

11.072 Writ of Habeas Corpus Declaring Actual Innocence as a Matter of Law" was 

filed in the criminal cause number (366-81639-2011). A file-stamped copy of this 

Amended Application is attached to this Motion as Exhibit "A" and fully incorporated 

herein by reference. 

5. The State of Texas, represented by the Texas Attorney General's Office, filed its 

AnswerlResponse to the Writ Application on May 19,2017. In that pleading, the State 

agreed that the relief requested should be granted stating, "In sum, and for the reasons 

outlined below, the State agrees that relief is appropriate here ... Stated differently, the 

State agrees that the Applicant's judgment of conviction and sentence in Cause Number 

366-81639-2011 should be 'vacated, and a judgment of acquittal rendered[,]' as to 

all 9 counts. (emphasis added). A copy of the State's Answer is attached to this 

Motion as Exhibit "B" and fully incorporated herein by reference. 

6. On May 24,2017, Judge Andrea Thompson, Judge of the 416th Judicial District Court 

of Collin County, Texas, signed an Order On Applicant's First Amended 11.072 Writ 

of Habeas Corpus Declaring Actual Innocence as a Matter of Law, setting aside the 

convictions in Cause Number 366-81639-2011 and acquitting the Respondent of all 

charges in the indictment. A copy of the signed Order is attached to this Motion as 

Exhibit "C" and fully incorporated by reference. The Order is final and not appealable, 

as the State of Texas has agreed to the fmdings and the entry of the Order. 

7. As part of the Order setting aside the convictions and acquitting the Respondent, Judge 

Thompson also "FURTHER ORDERED that any legal disabilities rendered 
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against Applicant as a result of the convictions in this Cause are VOID and 

ORDERED SET ASIDE and the Applicant be immediately provided all release 

and relief from those legal disabilities." 

8. Respondent's suspension from the practice of law is a legal disability that was a direct 

result from the now vacated underlying criminal convictions. A state District Judge 

has now ordered that the Order of Suspension be set aside due to the Applicant being 

acquitted. 

9. Rule 8.07 of the Texas Rules of Disciplinary Procedure is not applicable here, as the 

effect of the proceedings and Orders discussed above have resulted in the full 

exoneration of the Respondent of the convictions that led to the State Bar Compulsory 

Discipline proceedings. The effect of the Respondent's acquittal rendered her criminal 

probation term immediately terminated and the Respondent now does not have any 

criminal history. Therefore, the basis for the Order of Suspension in this Cause no 

longer exists. 

10. Based upon the foregoing, the Order of Suspension against the Respondent should be 

immediately SET ASIDE and VACATED, and any reference to the suspension order 

should be removed from the records of the State Bar, including the Respondent's 

profile in the electronic records of the Bar. 

WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, Respondent prays that the Board enter its 

order vacating and setting aside the Order of Suspension in this Cause and ordering the records be 

removed from the Respondent's records, including electronic records, held by the State Bar of 

Texas. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

SCHULTE & APGAR PLLC 
4131 N. Central Expressway 
Suite 680 
Dallas, Texas 75204 
Tel: (214) 521-2200 
Fax: (214) 276-1661 

BY: __ -J.$~~~:"":'-___ _ 
PETER A. SCHULTE 
State Bar No. 24044677 
Aflorney for Respondent. Han. Suzanne H. 
Wooten 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

This is to certify that on June 2, 2017, a true and correct copy of the above and foregoing 

document was served on the following: 

Dean Schaffer, Esq. 
Office of the Chief Disciplinary Counsel 
PO Box 12487 
Austin, TX 78711 
Via Email to Dean.Scha(fer(ji)Jexasbar.com 
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I. IDENTITY OF PARTIES AND COUNSEL 

Hon. Suzanne H. Wooten 
Former District Judge, 380th Judicial District Court 
McKinney, Collin County, Texas 

Peter A. Schulte 
Schulte & Apgar, PLLC 
4131 N Central Expy Ste 680 
Dallas, TX 75204-2171 
Office: (214) 521-2200 

Toby L. Shook 
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2001 Bryan St Ste 1905 
Dallas, Texas 75201 
Office: 214-850-9229 

STATE OF TEXAS 

Gregg Abbott 
Texas Attorney General (at time of trial) 
300 W 15th Street 
Austin, Texas 78701 
Phone: (512) 463-2100 
Fax: (512) 475-2994 

Harry E. White 
Tarrant County District Attorney's Office 
(Formerly Texas AG Office at Time of Trial) 
401 W Belknap 
Fort Worth, Texas 76196 
Phone: (817) 884-1661 
Fax: (817) 884-3333 

Adrienne McFarland I 
Texas Attorney General's Office 
300 W 15th Street 
Austin, Texas 78701 
Phone: (512) 463-2170 
Fax: (512) 475-2994 

APPLICANT 

Attorney for Applicant 
During Trial and for Writ of 
Habeas Corpus 

Attorney for Applicant 
During Trial 

RESPONDENT 

Attorney for State of Texas 
At Trial (then Pro Tern) 

Attorney for State of Texas 
At Trial (then Pro Tern) 

Attorney for State of Texas 
At Trial (then Pro Tern) & 
Post Conviction 

I Upon filing the Original Application, a question was raised regarding who represents the State of Texas in this post­
conviction Writ of Habeas Corpus. On May 8, 2017, after a previous hearing on the record and communications with 
the Collin County District Attorney's Office and the Texas Attorney General's Office, Applicant filed a Notice with 
the Court that, at that time, she did not object to the Texas Attorney General's Office representing the State in this 
matter. 
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Catherine Chopin2 
(Formerly Texas AG Office at Time of Trial) 
Royston Rayzor 
802 North Carancahua Ste 1300 
Corpus Christi, Texas 78401 
Phone: (361) 884-8808 
Fax: (361) 884-7261 

Joseph Corcoran 
Texas Attorney General's Office 
300 W 15th Street 
Austin, Texas 78701 
Phone: (512) 463-2170 
Fax: (512) 475-2994 

Judge Kerry L. Russell 
7th Judicial District Court 
Smith County, Texas 
100 N Broadway Rm 203 
Tyler, Texas 75072 
Office: (903) 590-1640 
Fax: (903) 590-1641 

Judge Andrea Thompson3 

416th Judicial District Court 
Collin County, Texas 
2100 Bloomdale Rd Ste 30146 
McKinney, Texas 75071 
Office: (972) 548-4570 

Attorney for State of Texas 
At Trial (then Pro Tern) 

Attorney for State of Texas 
Post-Conviction 

Presiding (Visiting) Judge 
At Trial 

Current Presiding Judge 
over Writ Application 

2 On February 11,2015, Ms. Chopin filed a Letter with the Court identifying herself as the lead counsel on this matter 
on behalf of the Texas Attorney General's Office. However, Ms. Chopin is no longer employed as an Assistant 
Attorney General and therefore, she is no longer the attorney assigned to this matter. 

3 On April 20, 2017, Justice Mary Murphy, Presiding Judge of the First Administrative Judicial Region, appointed the 
Honorable Judge Andrea Thompson, active Judge of the 416th Judicial District Court of Collin County, Texas to 
preside over this case and the post-conviction Writ of Habeas Corpus. 
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TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE THOMPSON: 

HON. SUZANNE H. WOOTEN, Applicant, petitions the Court for relief related to her 

convictions for six counts of Bribery, one count of Conspiracy to Commit Engaging in Organized 

Criminal Activity, one count of Money Laundering, and one count of Tampering with a 

Governmental Record under cause number 366-81639-2011 before the 366th Judicial District 

Court, Collin County, Texas, and respectfully submits this Application for Writ of Habeas Corpus 

for Declaration of Actual Innocence as a Matter of Law. 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Applicant was charged by indictment on July 14, 2011 4 for six counts of Bribery, one count 

of Engaging in Organized Criminal Activity, one count of Money Laundering, and one count of 

Tampering with a Governmental Record. More specifically, that between the period of January 4, 

2008 - March 14, 2008, in Collin County, Texas, Applicant received $150,000.00 toward her 

campaign for District Judge as alleged in the Indictment: 

"On [over six dates between January 4,2008 - March 14,2008] [Applicant] did then and 
there intentionally and knowingly solicit, accept, and agree to accept a benefit from another, 
namely Stacy Stine Cary, other than a political contribution as defined by Title 15, Election 
Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with Chapter 305 of the Government 
Code, to-wit: [total of$150,000] and the [Applicant] was a public servant, to-wit: a candidate for 
the office of Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court and presiding Judge of the 380th Judicial 
District Court, as consideration for [Applicant's] decision, opinion, recommendation, vote, or 
other exercise of discretion as a public servant, and as consideration for [Applicant's] decision, 
vote, recommendation, and other exercise of official discretion in a judicial proceeding, to wit: 
filing paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and continuing with a campaign to unseat the 
incumbent elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court, and as Judge of the 380th Judicial 
District Court presiding over and issuing favorable rulings in cases in which David Cary and Stacy 
Stine Cary are parties; (emphasis added)" 

See, IndictmentS (2011). 

4 Applicant was originally indicted on October 14,2010, for one count of Engaging in Organized Criminal Activity, 
six counts of Bribery, and one count of Money Laundering in Collin County Cause Number 366-82214-10. The 
Applicant was "re-indicted" on July 14, 2011, in Cause Number 366-82639-2011 alleging the original Bribery counts 
and adding one count of Tampering with a Governmental Record. The original cause, 366-82214-10 was dismissed 
on or about July 29, 20 II. 

5 The Applicant's Indictment is attached hereto as Exhibit "A." 
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All of the allegations contained in the indictment were in regard to the Applicant's 

campaign to be elected the Republican Nominee for the 380th Judicial District Court in the March 

4, 2008 Republican Primary. Applicant won the primary election by a wide margin, defeating the 

incumbent Judge handily. There were no other candidates in the general election held on 

November 4, 2008, and Applicant was sworn in as the Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court 

on January 1, 2009. 

A jury trial was held in this case on November 7, 2011 through November 28, 2011. After 

the guilt/innocence portion of the trial, the jury found Applicant guilty of Conspiracy to Commit 

Engaging In Organized Criminal Activity (lesser included offense), six counts of Bribery, one 

count of Money Laundering, and one count of Tampering with a Governmental Record. 

After Applicant was found guilty, as the parties were preparing to start the punishment 

phase of the trial, the State of Texas offered Applicant 10 years' community supervision in 

exchange for her immediate resignation of her judicial office and for her to waive her right to direct 

appeal. Under the circumstances, Applicant had no other option but to accept the State's offer and 

she was placed on 10 years' community supervision on each count (except the last count, which 

Applicant was placed on five years community supervision due to statutory limitations) and 

resigned her judicial office. Applicant did not change her plea of "not guilty" and Applicant did 

not waive her right to habeas corpus relief as part of the agreement with the State. 

Applicant is entitled to petition the Court for the relief requested as she was placed on 

community supervision and is hereby challenging the legal validity of the conviction for which 

community supervision was imposed as there was "no evidence upon which to base the conviction, 

as no one can be convicted of something that is not a crime." See, Ex Parte Perales, 215 S.W.3d 
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418, 419 (Tex. Crim. App. 2007). This is the first 11.072 Writ of Habeas Corpus filed in this 

matter by the Applicant. See, TEX. CODE CRIM. PROC. Art. 11.072 (Vernon 2017). 

IV. FACTS 

A brief summary of the facts is as follows: 

The foundation of the State's allegations in this case were "Bribery" charges claiming co-

defendants Stacy Stine Cary and David Frederick Cary funneled money to the Applicant's 

campaign through an intermediary in exchange for "favorable rulings" in a case assigned to the 

Court where Applicant was a candidate for political office. As of the date of this application, 

Applicant has still never met the Carys and Applicant never accepted any money from the Carys, 

directly or indirectly. The State alleged that Applicant received money from the Carys through an 

intermediary, co-defendant James Stephen Spencer, who was employed by Applicant as her media 

consultant for her political campaign. 

The State went to great lengths to assert that any funds paid by the Carys to Spencer were 

"not a political contribution as defined by Title 15, Election Code." In several pre-trial filings, 

Applicant made the argument that the State could not charge the Applicant as asserted, as the 

allegations were all about funds allegedly used in a campaign. TEX. PENAL CODE §36.02 (Bribery), 

in relevant parts, is as follows: 

(a) A person commits an offense ifhe intentionally or knowingly offers, 
confers, or agrees to confer on another, or solicits, accepts, or agrees to 
accept from another: 

(1) any benefit as consideration for the recipient's decision, opinion, 
recommendation, vote, or other exercise of discretion as a public 
servant, party official, or voter; 

(2) any benefit as consideration for the recipient's decision, vote, 
recommendation, or other exercise of official discretion in a judicial 
or administrative proceeding; 
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(3) any benefit as consideration for a violation of a duty imposed by 
law on a public servant or party official; or 

(4) any benefit that is a political contribution as defined by Title 15, 
Election Code, or that is an expenditure made and reported in 
accordance with Chapter 305, Government Code, if the benefit was 
offered, conferred, solicited, accepted, or agreed to pursuant to an 
express agreement to take or withhold a specific exercise of official 
discretion if such exercise of official discretion would not have been 
taken or withheld but for the benefit; notwithstanding any rule of 
evidence or jury instruction allowing factual inferences in the 
absence of certain evidence, direct evidence of the express 
agreement shall be required in any prosecution under this 
subdivision (emphasis added). 

(b) It is no defense to prosecution under this section that a person whom the 
actor sought to influence was not qualified to act in the desired way whether 
because he had not yet assumed office or he lacked jurisdiction or for any 
other reason. 

*** 

(d) It is an exception to the application of Subdivisions (1), (2), and (3) of 
Subsection (a) that the benefit is a political contribution as defined by Title 
15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with 
Chapter 305, Government Code. 

(e) An offense under this section is a felony of the second degree. 

[d. 

Applicant stated in a Motion to Quash and Exception to Substance of Indictment filed on 

January 25,2011, in the original cause number (366-82214-10) that included the same foundation 

allegations of bribery as in the "re-indictment," that the Bribery statute excepted a Defendant to 

being charged under subsection (a)(I), (a)(2), or (a)(3) if the allegations of bribery included 

"political contributions." On page 2 of that Motion, the Motion stated, in part: 

"The indictment vaguely resembles Texas Penal Code Section 36.02(a)(2) in which it 
attempts to allege that the Defendant received funds 'which was not a political contribution as 
defined by Title 15 of the Election Code or Expenditures made in accordance with Chapter 305 
Government Code.' However, in open Court on November 19,2010, Mr. Brian Chandler, one of 
the Prosecuting Attorneys, stated that this case was about 'direct expenditures to the Defendant's 
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2008 Judicial Campaign by a third party.' Such alleged 'expenditures' would be defined under 
Title 15 of the Election Code. Therefore, the Indictment is defective in that the State attempts to 
lessen their evidentiary burden by avoiding the showing of any proof of any 'direct evidence of 
an express agreement' between the parties pursuant to Tex. Penal Code §36.02(a)(4) (Vernon 
2010)." 

See, Motion to Quash and Exception to 
Substance of Indictment, filed January 25, 
2011, In Cause Number 366-82214-10, 
attached hereto as Exhibit "B" 

In a hearing on this Motion to Quash on March 11, 2011, Presiding (Visiting) Judge Kerry 

Russell denied the Motion and stated in part that the "State can charge anyone under any section 

they want" and ignored the Legislature's intent of preventing this type of indictment against 

candidates and elected officials by refusing to quash the indictment, which would have thereby 

ended the prosecution of Applicant. 

At the conclusion of the State's case in chief, Applicant made a motion for an Instructed 

Verdict on all counts as the State had not shown any evidence, specifically, "direct evidence of an 

express agreement" among the parties where in exchange for political contributions, the Applicant 

was going to ''take or withhold a specific exercise of official discretion if such exercise of official 

discretion would not have been taken or withheld but for the political contributions (benefit)," and 

that the State had failed to negate the political-contribution exception afforded in the bribery 

statute. Presiding (Visiting) Judge Kerry Russell denied the Applicant's request for an Instructed 

Verdict on all counts. 

The other three counts contained in the Indictment were predicated upon the Bribery counts 

and once the Bribery counts are deemed unlawful and illegal, the other three counts predicated 

thereon fail entirely as well.6 The State of Texas, in its own briefs on the merits in the direct 

6The reason that these counts fail as well is shown in more detail at the end of the ana1ysis of Supp1ementa1 Legal 
Challenge Number Three. 
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appeals of the co-defendants (discussed infra,) stated that if the bribery counts convictions are 

reversed, then the remaining charges should be reversed as well based on the evidence being 

legally insufficient. See, David Cary v. State, PD-0445-15, 11 (Tex. Crim. App. 2016). 

V. RELEV ANT MATTERS & LEGAL PRECEDENT FROM 
TRIALS/APPEALS OF CO-DEFENDANTS 

This case involved three other co-defendants. Two of the co-defendants were a married 

couple named David Frederick Cary and Stacy Stine Cary (Collectively "the Carys"). The third 

co-defendant was James Stephen Spencer, a consultant who assisted the Carys with other matters 

and was employed by the Applicant as her media consultant during her judicial campaign. Each 

of the indictments for the Carys and Applicant are substantially identical as the allegations track 

the same statutory language and same alleged scheme of conduct. The indictments for David Cary 

and Stacy Cary are attached hereto as Exhibits "c" and "D," respectively. 

The Applicant's trial was held first. Spencer's trial was held second. Stacy's trial was held 

third and David's trial was held last. Applicant, Stacy Cary, and David Cary were convicted by a 

jury, David Cary received 14 years confinement, serving 19 months of such sentence before his 

release, and the other two (including Spencer) were placed on probation.7 

The Carys were able to directly appeal their cases. Stacy's case was appealed first. The 

Dallas 5th District Court of Appeals affirmed Stacy's conviction. See, Stacy Cary v. State, 05-12-

01421-CR, 2014 WL 4261233 (Tex.App. - Dallas 2015). However, in his dissenting opinion, 

Justice Kerry P. Fitzgerald offered a scathing dissent, stating that "with respect to the bribery 

charges at the heart of this case, this case is most unusual because the State's evidence is not merely 

insufficient - if affirmatively negates an essential element of the bribery charges and proves 

7 Spencer opted to take a plea deal for probation on this case prior to trial. 
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appellant not guilty." Id. at page 1, Dissenting Opinion (Tex.App. - Dallas 2014) (attached hereto 

as Exhibit "E,,).8 Further, Justice Fitzgerald confirmed that all the other counts of the indictment 

would fail in their entirety as a result. 

Several months later, a unanimous panel of the Dallas Sth District Court of Appeals reversed 

the convictions of David Cary and rendered acquittals on all counts, finding that there "was 

insufficient evidence to support his convictions" on all counts (emphasis added). See, David 

Cary v. State, 460 S.W.3d 731 (Tex.App. - Dallas 201S). 

Both the State in the David Cary case and Stacy Cary filed a Petition for Discretionary 

Review (PDR) with the Court of Criminal Appeals. The Court of Criminal Appeals granted PDR 

on each case and heard the cases in tandem. 

On December 14, 2016, the Court of Criminal Appeals handed down their unanimous 

opinions in both David and Stacy Cary's cases. In David's case, the Court of Criminal Appeals 

affirmed the Sth District Dallas Court of Appeals opinion and affirmed the acquittal on all counts. 

See, David Cary v. State, PD-044S-1S (Tex. Crim. App. 2016). In Stacy's case, the Court of 

Criminal Appeals reversed the opinion of the Sth District Dallas Court of Appeals and rendered 

acquittals on all counts as well. See, Stacy Cary v. State, PD-1341-14 (Tex. Crim. App. 2016). In 

both cases, the Court of Criminal Appeals stated that there was "insufficient evidence to support 

[all of their] convictions." Id. Both the legal arguments and issues contained in these two Court 

of Criminal Appeals opinions are directly related, applicable, and are absolutely persuasive 

and precedential to the Applicant's case, as stated previously, the indictments are substantially 

8 As will be shown later, the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals later agreed with Justice Fitzgerald in their Opinions. 
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identical. Copies of these two opinions are attached to this Writ Application as Exhibits "F" and 

"0" and fully incorporated by reference. 

VI. Ex parte Perales & VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS 

The Texas Court of Criminal Appeals case Ex Parte Perales is exactly on point and 

precedential to this case. See, Ex parte Perales, 215 S.W.3d 418 (Tex. Crim. App. 2007). In 

Perales, the Applicant, Valerie Sue Perales, had been charged by indictment of delivery of a 

controlled substance, namely cocaine, "by actual transfer to her unborn child, a person who is 

younger than 18 years of age or younger." Id at 418. Perales entered a plea of guilty, waived her 

right to direct appeal (emphasis added), and accepted a plea bargain offer of 7 years 

incarceration. Id. In her Writ of Habeas Corpus to seek relief of her conviction, the Applicant 

asserted that "1) there was no evidence or insufficient evidence to support the finding of actual 

delivery of a controlled substance to her unborn child; 2) invalid or defective indictment, as there 

was no evidence or insufficient evidence to legally indict her, and 3) illegal sentence because there 

was no evidence or insufficient evidence to support a finding of delivery of a controlled substance 

to a minor, thus 'the sentence is illegal since the conviction is unjustified.'" Id. at 418-419. The 

Applicant also asserted that the facts of the case do not support the charge and in "the discussion 

of her 'Point of Error,' she compares her case to two recent cases, each of which involved the 

conviction of a woman for delivery of drugs to her unborn child and both of which were reversed 

and acquittals rendered by the Amarillo Court of Appeals." Id. (emphasis added). 

In response to the Writ filed by Perales, the State of Texas objected to the Writ by arguing 

the Applicant had pleaded guilty to the offense and waived direct appeal, and that "a challenge to 

the sufficiency of the evidence is not cognizable by way of post-conviction habeas corpus." Id. 

"However, a claim of no evidence is cognizable because' [w ]here there has been no evidence upon 
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which to base a conviction, a violation of due process has occurred and the conviction may be 

attacked collaterally in a habeas corpus proceeding. '" Id. If the record is devoid of evidentiary 

support for a conviction, an evidentiary challenge is cognizable on a writ of habeas corpus. 

In recommending relief, the Habeas Court in Perales stated that the Applicant's "real 

complaint is that her sentence is illegal because it has been subsequently determined that a 

controlled substance that eventually entered into an unborn child's body via conveyance is not a 

'delivery' for purposes of §481.122(a) of the Texas Health and Safety Code." Id. In other words, 

the indictment against Perales for which she was convicted was not a crime. Id. (emphasis 

added). The Court of Criminal Appeals concluded that since an "actual transfer delivery from a 

mother to her unborn child is not possible, we conclude, as a matter of law, delivery by actual 

transfer did not occur," and the Court vacated the jUdgment/conviction against Perales and 

rendered a judgment of acquittal. Id. at 420. 

A. DISCUSSION 

As shown supra, on December 14, 2016, the Court of Criminal Appeals subsequently 

determined that the allegations in this case are not a crime under Texas law. Accordingly, the 

Court of Criminal Appeals rendered an acquittal of Stacy Cary on all charges and confirmed the 

acquittal of David Cary on identical charges, the same alleged evidence, and the same argument 

by the State as those charged against Applicant. Although the Applicant did not enter a plea of 

guilty in the case, but entered into a punishment agreement that waived her right to a direct appeal 

in this case, she brings this Writ showing that the Court of Criminal Appeals has subsequently 

ruled that the evidence in this matter is insufficient to support a conviction. 

The legal argument herein is similar to the argument for the defendant in Perales (who 

could not have committed the crime under the correct legal interpretation of the "delivery" statute), 
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as there was no evidence that that the payments to Spencer were not a political contribution. 

Moreover, the manner in which the Court of Criminal Appeals acquitted Stacy Cary of Engaging 

in Organized Criminal Activity is applicable to Applicant. See e.g., Stacy Cary, PD-1341-14 at 18. 

("Because there is no evidence that Wooten received money from the Carys or Spencer that she 

was required to disclose on her 2008 Personal Financial Statement (PFS) (i.e., she received no 

money in her individual capacity), there is insufficient evidence to support Stacy's conviction for 

engaging in organized criminal activity."). 

Therefore, this Application for Writ of Habeas Corpus, as supported by the rulings in the 

Perales case and the rulings of the Court of Criminal Appeals in both Cary cases, is the appropriate 

manner to seek habeas relief in this case and it should be granted as a matter of law and acquittals 

rendered on all of the charges/convictions of the Applicant. 

VII. SUMMARY OF THE SUPPLEMENTAL LEGAL CHALLENGES 

In addition to the clear precedent and argument for the granting of Applicant's Writ of 

Habeas Corpus Declaring Actual Innocence as a Matter of Law described supra, Applicant 

presents the following three supplemental Legal Challenges to the Conviction in this Application 

to insure all of the known facts and known errors are submitted to the Court in this first 11.072 

Writ of Habeas Corpus. 

First, Applicant further shows that the Trial Court erred by not quashing the Indictment in 

this case based on the substance of the indictment due to the State completely disregarding Texas 

Penal Code § 36.02(a)(4) and subsection (d) in the Indictment. 

Second, Applicant further shows that the Trial Court erred when it did not grant the 

Applicant's request for an Instructed Verdict at the conclusion of the State's case in chief as the 

State had not shown any evidence, specifically, "direct evidence of an express agreement" among 
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the parties where in exchange for political contributions, the Applicant was going to "take or 

withhold a specific exercise of official discretion if such exercise of official discretion would not 

have been taken or withheld but for the political contributions (benefit)," and that the State had 

failed to negate the political-contribution exception afforded in the bribery statute. 

Third, Applicant further shows that the Trial Court erred by overruling Applicant's 

proposed jury charge amendments where the charge would have stated that the jury would have 

been required to find beyond a reasonable doubt that any funds paid to Applicant's campaign were 

NOT political contributions as defined by Title 15, Election Code. 

VIII. SUPPLEMENTARY LEGAL CHALLENGES OF CONVICTIONS PRESENTED 

LEGAL CHALLENGE ONE: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT GRANTING 
APPLICANT'S MOTION TO QUASH THE INDICTMENT BASED ON SUBSTANCE 
AND THE LAW 

1. Facts pertaining to Legal Challenge One. 

As stated supra, in a hearing on the Motion to Quash the Indictment based on Substance 

and the Law on March 11, 2011, Presiding (Visiting) Judge Kerry Russell denied the Motion and 

stated in part that the "State can charge anyone under any section they want" and ignored the 

Legislature's intent of preventing this type of indictment against candidates and elected officials 

by refusing to quash the indictment. Tex. Penal Code §36.02(a)(4) and subsection (e) provide that 

the State must bring substantially more evidence to charge an elected official or candidate for 

Bribery where political contributions are involved (Le. "direct evidence of an express agreement"), 

which were absent in the indictment in this case. 

2. Law and Argument in this Case. 

The Texas Court of Criminal Appeals in the December 14, 2016 opinions of the co-

defendants in this case stated: "To negate the political contribution exception, the State had to 

show [beyond a reasonable doubt] that David had no intent for Stacy's money to be used in 
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Wooten's campaign." See, David Cary v. State, PD-0445-15 (Tex. Crim. App. 2016). The Court 

further opined that "the evidence is insufficient to prove that David committed bribery as charged 

as the State failed to negate the political-contribution exception (emphasis added). Id. at 10. 

The reasoning of the Court of Criminal Appeals was identical to the arguments made to the trial 

court in the hearing on the Motion to Quash the Indictment and reflects how the trial court clearly 

erred in denying the Motion. 

LEGAL CHALLENGE TWO: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DID NOT 
GRANT APPLICANT'S MOTION FOR AN INSTRUCTED VERDICT AT THE TIME 
THE STATE COMPLETED ITS CASE IN CHIEF. 

1. Facts pertaining to Legal Challenge Two. 

At the conclusion of the State's case in chief, the Applicant made a motion to the Court for 

an Instructed Verdict as the State had not shown any evidence, specifically, "direct evidence of an 

express agreement" among the parties where in exchange for political contributions, the Applicant 

was going to "take or withhold a specific exercise of official discretion if such exercise of official 

discretion would not have been taken or withheld but for the political contributions (benefit)," and 

that the State had failed to negate the political-contribution exception afforded in the bribery 

statute. Visiting District Judge Kerry Russell erroneously denied the Motion for an Instructed 

Verdict. 

2. Law and Argument in this case 

When a criminal statute contains an exception to the application of the statute, the State 

must show evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that the exception does not apply. Texas Penal 

Code §2.02 clearly states that "The prosecuting attorney must negate the existence of an exception 

in the accusation charging commission of the offense and prove beyond a reasonable doubt that 

the defendant or defendant's conduct does not fall within the exception. TEX. PENAL CODE §2.02 
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(Vernon 2017). The exception contained in the bribery statute is also clear: "(d) It is an exception 

to the application of Subdivisions (1), (2), and (3) of Subsection (a) that the benefit is a political 

contribution as defined by Title 15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in 

accordance with Chapter 305, Government Code." TEX. PENAL CODE §36.02(d) (Vernon 2017). 

This exception applies as the Applicant and co-defendants were charged under sections 36.02( a)( 1) 

and 36.02(a)(2). 

A judge shall grant an instructed verdict when the Court finds that the "State failed to 

present sufficient evidence from which a rational trier of fact could find beyond a reasonable doubt 

that Defendant is criminally responsible as the primary actor or as a party for committing each 

essential element of the crime alleged in the charging instrument and each lesser-included offense 

thereto." See, Duncan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275 (1993). 

When there is a challenge to the trial judge's ruling on a motion for an instructed verdict it 

is in actuality a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence to support the conviction. Cook v. 

State, 858 S.W.2d 467, 471 (Tex. Cr. App. 1993). 

Due to the identical counts, alleged evidence, and argument by the State in the Carys' cases 

as those asserted against Applicant, the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals has already reviewed the 

facts of this case for the sufficiency of the evidence to support the convictions and ruled that the 

evidence in both the David and Stacy Cary cases "was insufficient to prove that [David/Stacy] 

committed bribery as charged because the State failed to negate the political-contribution 

exception. David Cary, PD-0445-15 at 10, Stacy Cary, PD-1341 0-14 at 16. The facts in the instant 

case are identical. Based on the Court of Criminal Appeals opinions on the two co-defendant 

cases, Judge Kerry Russell clearly erred when he did not grant the request of the Applicant for an 

Instructed Verdict at trial. In fact, Judge Kerry Russell stated on the record, "If I'm making a 
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wrong ruling, there will be somebody that will tell me I did the wrong thing." RR, 11-17-2011, 

pll (lines 22-24). 

LEGAL CHALLENGE THREE: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED THE 
APPLICANT'S REQUESTED JURY CHARGE AMENDMENTS, MORE 
SPECIFICALLY TO REQUIRE THE STATE TO PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE 
DOUBT THAT ANY FUNDS PAID WERE NOT POLITICAL CONTRIBIUTIONS IN 
ORDER TO CONVICT APPLICANT 

1. Facts pertaining to Legal Challenge Three. 

This legal challenge touches on both of the above two legal challenges. In an attempt to 

have the Court hold the State to its burden as required by the Bribery statute and to be required to 

provide evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that the exception in 36.02(d) did not apply, the 

Applicant filed a proposed Jury Charge with Judge Kerry Russell. The proposed language stated 

after each bribery count, in part: 

"Lastly, if you believe beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant did intentionally and 
knowingly receive and/or accept the above referenced funds, but you do not find and believe from 
the evidence, or have a reasonable doubt thereof, that the above referenced funds were funds "other 
than political contributions as defined by Title 15 of the Election Code or expenditures made and 
reported in accordance with Chapter 305 of the Government Code," then you shall also resolve 
this doubt in favor of the defendant and acquit the defendant of this count of bribery and say by 
your verdict "not guilty," and immediately proceed ... " 

Applicant's proposed Jury Charge 
to Court on or about October 25, 
2011 (not filed in record). 

Prior to the jury charge being complete, Applicant stated on the record the need for these 

provisions to be included in the jury charge and objected to such provisions being 

removed/excluded from the Jury Charge. The Court denied the request for this language to be 

included in the final jury charge, further ignoring the exceptions contained in the Bribery statute. 

Thereby, the State was further relieved of its burden to negate the political-contribution exception 

due to the jury charge not requiring the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the funds 

paid by the Carys were NOT political contributions. The only statement to that effect was 
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contained in the indictment under each bribery count where it stated, "did intentionally or 

knowingly solicit, accept, or agree to accept from another, namely, Stacy Stine Cary, other than a 

political contribution as defined by Title IS, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported 

in accordance with Chapter 30S of the Government Code." See, Indictment (2011). 

2. Law and Argument in this case. 

In Stacy Cary's appeal to the Sth District Dallas Court of Appeals from the trial court, the 

Court ruled that the statutory definition of "political contribution" is limited to legal political 

contributions." Stacy Cary, OS-12-01421-CR, 2014 WL 4261233 at 34. The Sth District Court of 

Appeals, however, did not explain its reasoning on how it came up with that conclusion. Id. 

The Texas Court of Criminal Appeals overruled the Sth District Dallas Court of Appeals 

in the Stacy Cary case and stated that "the words 'political contribution' as used in the bribery 

statute excludes all political contributions, without regard to whether they are in the allowable 

limits." (emphasis added). Stacy Cary, PD-1341-14 at 10. Based on the errors made by Judge 

Kerry Russell in this case and the statement in the Indictments, the State alleged as merely a 

statement in the indictments that any money paid for use in the Applicant's campaign "were not 

political contributions," taking away the right of the jury to determine if any funds were or were 

not political contributions. The Court of Criminal Appeals wholly rejected that assertion and stated 

that the jury, and not the State, must determine the characterization of any funds alleged in a 

bribery indictment beyond a reasonable doubt for a conviction to stand. Id. 

The Stacy Cary Court of Criminal Appeals Opinion went on to further state: 

"When the correct definition of "political contribution" is used to examine the 
sufficiency of the evidence, no rational jury could have reasonably believed that Stacy 
sought to get Wooten elected so the Carys could get favorable treatment, but that Stacy 
had no intention that her money would be used to elect Wooten. In other words, the only 
benefits conferred to Wooten were transfers of funds from Stacy to Spencer to fund 
Wooten's campaign. As charged in this case, it is insufficient to show that a person 
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intentionally and knowingly offered a benefit as consideration for the recipient's exercise 
of official discretion. Compare TEX. PENAL CODE § 36.02(a)(1)-(a)(2), with id 
§ 36.02(a)(4). The statute requires more. Irrespective of a person's intent to "bribe" 
someone, the legislature has decided that, if the benefit offered to the recipient is a 
political contribution, the actor has not committed bribery as charged in this case. 

Id. at 15-16. 

The Court of Criminal Appeals applied the same legal analysis and conclusions in both the 

David and Stacy Cary cases, and when applied to the Applicant's case, the result is the same. 

3. The Remaining Ancillary Counts in the Indictment 

The Money Laundering and Engaging in Organized Criminal Activity allegations all 

require the "predicate offense" of bribery to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt or they fail. 

Because the State cannot prove the predicate offense of bribery, the evidence of Money Laundering 

and Engaging in Organized Criminal Activity is likewise insufficient to support any of the 

Applicant's convictions for those offenses as well. 

And finally, regarding the Tampering with a Governmental Record count, the Court of 

Criminal Appeals actually acquitted Applicant in the Stacy Cary Opinion by stating, "The relevant 

question is whether there is evidence that Stacy, David, or Spencer gave Wooten [Applicant] 

money in her individual capacity. We conclude that there is none." Stacy Cary, PD-1341-14 at 

18. "Because there is no evidence that Wooten [Applicant] received money from the Carys or 

Spencer that she was required to disclose on her 2008 PFS (Personal Financial Statement), there 

is insufficient evidence to support" a conviction. Id 
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IX. CONCLUSION AND PRAYER 

For the above and forgoing reasons, Applicant respectfully prays that upon review, the 

Court grant Applicant's Writ of Habeas Corpus, reverse each and every conviction and declare the 

Applicant Innocent of all of the allegations contained in the Indictment as a matter of law, as the 

highest criminal court in Texas has already given the Court clear guidance and legally binding 

precedent. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Peter A. Schulte 
Schulte & Apgar, PLLC 
4131 N Central Expy Ste 680 
Dallas, Texas 75204-217 1 
Office: 214-521 -2200 
Fax: 214-276-1661 

By:_---,p::-:e::-:te=7ii:d-sc-.:h--':u:::lte~a~p~g:::ar=.c;::~-=-----­
PETER A. SCHULTE 
Attorney for Applicant 
State Bar No. 24044677 

X. CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

This is to certifY that on May ~ 2017, a true and correct copy of the above and 
foregoing document was served on the State of Texas by delivering a copy to the Office of 
Attorney General , via electronic mail to Adrienne.McFarl and!@oaQ.texas.Qov and 

Jo"ph.C",~oru"@<,",. ",",.go,. ~ 

PETER A. SCHULTE 
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THE STATE OF TEXAS V. SUZANNE H. WOOTEN 
CAUSE #3>(9(6- "b\lo"2~- 2. Q \ \ 

PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION: Race: W Sex: F DOB: 4/2311968 Height: 5'04" Weight: 135 

Count One - Engaging in Organized Criminal Activity 

CODE SECTION : TEXAS PENAL CODE § 71.02(a) 

DEGREE OF FELONY: FIRST OFFENSE CODE 73991005 BOND 

Count Two - Bribery 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 36.02 

DEGREE OF FELONY: FIRST OFFENSE CODE 5199018 BOND 

Count Three - Bribery 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 36.02 

DEGREE OF FELONY: SECOND OFFENSE CODE 5199018 BOND 

Count Four - Bribery 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 36.02 

DEGREE OF FELONY: SECOND OFFENSE CODE 5199018 BOND 

Count Five - Bribery 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 36.02 

DEGREE OF FELONY: SECOND OFFENSE CODE 5199018 BOND 

Count Six - Bribery 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 36.02 

DEGREE OF FELONY: SECOND OFFENSE CODE 5199018 BOND 

Count Seven - Bribery 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 36.02 

DEGREE OF FELONY: SECOND OFFENSE CODE 5199018 BOND 

~ All ~ 
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Count Eight - Money Laundering ($100,000 - $200,000) 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 34.02 

DEGREE OF FELONY: SECOND OFFENSE CODJ1~ '(1) /ShOND ___ _ 

Count Nine - Tampering with a Governmental Record 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 37.10 1 ~'X' 06?j. J 

DEGREE OF FELONY: THIRD OFFENSE CODE -=ZJ'l ~BOND ___ _ 

Companion Cases: David, Cary, Stacy Stine Cary, James Stephen Spencer 

IN THE 366th JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS 

GRAND JURY INDICTMENT 
(SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT) 

IN THE NAME AND BY THE AUTHORITY OF THE STATE OF TEXAS: 

THE GRAND JURY, for the County of COLLIN, State of Texas, duly organized, 

impaneled, and sworn as such as the July Term, A.D. 2011, of the 199th Judicial District Court 

for said County, upon their oaths present in and to said Court at said term that: 

COUNT ONE 

SUZANNE H. WOOTEN 

hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about and between September 19, 2007 and October 20, 

2009, and before presentment of this indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, with intent to 

establish, maintain, and participate in a combination and in the profits of a combination of three 

or more persons, namely, the Defendant, David Cary, Stacy Stine Cary, and James Stephen 

Spencer, did commit and conspire to commit the following offenses: 
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Bribery, in that the Defendant did then and there intentionally and knowingly solicit, 

accept, and agree to accept a benefit from another, namely Stacy Stine Cary, other than a 

political contribution as defined by Title 15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported 

in accordance with Chapter 305 of the Government Code, to-wit: one or more of the following 

transactions: 

Date of Transfer Date of Deposit Amount 

January 4, 2008 January 4, 2008 $50,000 

January 30, 2008 February 4,2008 $25,000 

February 14,2008 February 15, 2008 $25,000 

February 26,2008 February 26, 2008 $25,000 

March 7, 2008 March 7, 2008 $10,000 

March 14,2008 March 14, 2008 $15,000 

and the Defendant was a public servant, to-wit: a candidate for the office of Judge of the 380th 

Judicial District Court and presiding Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court, as consideration 

for Defendant's decision, opinion, recommendation, vote, and other exercise of discretion as a 

public servant and as consideration for Defendant's decision, vote, recommendation, and other 

exercise of official discretion in a judicial proceeding, to-wit: filing paperwork to run for Judge, 

proceeding and continuing with a campaign to unseat the incumbent elected Judge of the 380th 

Judicial District Court, and as Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court presiding over and 

issuing favorable rulings in cases in which David Cary and Stacy Stine Cary are parties; 

Money Laundering, in that the Defendant did then and there, pursuant to one scheme 

and continuing course of conduct, knowingly acquire, maintain an interest in, conceal, possess, 

transfer the proceeds of criminal activity, and conduct, supervise, and facilitate a transaction 
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._---------------------------------

involving the proceeds of criminal activity, to-wit: Bribery, and the aggregate value of said 

proceeds was $100,000 or more but less than $200,000; 

Tampering with a Government Record, in that the Defendant did then and there, with 

intent to defraud and harm another, namely, the State of Texas, the Texas Ethics Commission, 

and the citizens of the State of Texas, intentionally and knowingly make, present, and use a 

governmental record with knowledge of its falsity, to-wit: prepared, swore, and affinned a 

Personal Financial Statement that was submitted to the Texas Ethics Commission and did not list 

and report all gifts and loans, as required by Texas Government Code Sec. 572.023, omitting 

Stacy Stine Cary, David Cary, and James Stephen Spencer under the heading "Gifts," and the 

heading "Personal Notes and Lease Agreements," when in truth and in fact said Defendant had 

received gifts and loans from Stacy Stine Cary, David Cary, and James Stephen Spencer during 

the calendar year 2008; 

and in furtherance of the conspiracy to commit said offenses the Defendant perfonned 

one or more overt acts, to-wit: filing paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and continuing with 

a campaign to unseat the incwnbent elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court, approving 

campaign literature, approving, supervising, and directing expenditures, communicating with 

other members of the combination, concealing payments, gifts, and loans from David Cary, 

Stacy Stine Cary, and James Stephen Spencer, and as Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court 

presiding over and issuing favorable rulings in cases in which David Cary and Stacy Stine Cary 

are parties; 

and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said term that: 
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COUNT TWO 

SUZANNE H. WOOTEN 

hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about January 4, 2008, and before presentment of this 

indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there intentionally and knowingly 

solicit, accept, and agree to accept a benefit from another, namely Stacy Stine Cary, other than a 

political contribution as defined by Title 15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported 

in accordance with Chapter 305 of the Government Code, to-wit: $50,000, and the Defendant 

was a public servant, to-wit: a candidate for the office of Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court and presiding Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court, as consideration for Defendant's 

decision, opinion, recommendation, vote, and other exercise of discretion as a public servant and 

as consideration for Defendant's decision, vote, recommendation, and other exercise of official 

discretion in a judicial proceeding, to-wit: filing paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and 

continuing with a campaign to unseat the incumbent elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Co~ and as Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court presiding over and issuing favorable 

rulings in cases in which David Cary and Stacy Stine Cary are parties; 

and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said tenn that: 

COUNT THREE 

SUZANNE H. WOOTEN 

hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about January 30, 2008, and before presentment of this 

indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there intentionally and knowingly 

solicit, accept, and agree to accept a benefit from another, namely Stacy Stine Cary, other than a 
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political contribution as defined by Title 15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported 

in accordance with Chapter 305 of the Government Code, to-wit: $25,000, and the Defendant 

was a public servant, to-wit: a candidate for the office of Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court and presiding Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court, as consideration for Defendant's 

decision, opinion, recommendation, vote, and other exercise of discretion as a public servant and 

as consideration for Defendant's decision, vote, recommendation, and other exercise of official 

discretion in ajudicial proceeding, to-wit: filing paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and 

continuing with a campaign to unseat the incumbent elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court, and as Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court presiding over and issuing favorable 

rulings in cases in which David Cary and Stacy Stine Cary are parties; 

and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said term that: 

COUNT FOUR 

SUZANNE H. WOOTEN 

hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about February 14,2008, and before presentment of this 

indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there intentionally and knowingly 

solicit, accept, and agree to accept a benefit from another, namely Stacy Stine Cary, other than a 

political contribution as defmed by Title 15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported 

in accordance with Chapter 305 of the Government Code, to-wit: $25,000, and the Defendant 

was a public servant, to-wit: a candidate for the office of Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court and presiding Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court, as consideration for Defendant's 

decision, opinion, recommendation, vote, and other exercise of discretion as a public servant and 
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as consideration for Defendant's decision, vote, recommendation, and other exercise of official 

discretion in a judicial proceeding, to-wit: filing paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and 

continuing with a campaign to unseat the incwnbent elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court, and as Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court presiding over and issuing favorable 

rulings in cases in which David Cary and Stacy Stine Cary are parties; 

and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said term that: 

COUNT FIVE 

SUZANNE H. WOOTEN 

hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about February 26,2008, and before presentment of this 

indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there intentionally and knowingly 

solicit, accept, and agree to accept a benefit from another, namely Stacy Stine Cary, other than a 

political contribution as defined by Title 15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported 

in accordance with Chapter 305 of the Government Code, to-wit: $25,000, and the Defendant 

was a public servant, to-wit: a candidate for the office of Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court and presiding Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court, as consideration for Defendant's 

decision, opinion, recommendation, vote, and other exercise of discretion as a public servant and 

as consideration for Defendant's decision, vote, recommendation, and other exercise of official 

discretion in a judicial proceeding, to-wit: filing paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and 

continuing with a campaign to unseat the incumbent elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court, and as Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court presiding over and issuing favorable 

rulings in cases in which David Cary and Stacy Stine Cary are parties; . 
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and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said term that: 

COUNT SIX 

SUZANNE H. WOOTEN 

hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about March 7, 2008, and before presentment of this 

indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there intentionally and knowingly 

solicit, accept, and agree to accept a benefit from another, namely Stacy Stine Cary, other than a 

political contribution as defined by Title 15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported 

in accordance with Chapter 305 of the Government Code, to-wit: $10,000, and the Defendant 

was a public servant, to-wit: a candidate for the office of Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court and presiding Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court, as consideration for Defendant's 

decision, opinion, recommendation, vote, and other exercise of discretion as a public servant and 

as consideration for Defendant's decision, vote, recommendation, and other exercise of official 

discretion in a judicial proceeding, to-wit: filing paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and 

continuing with a campaign to unseat the incumbent elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court, and as Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court presiding over and issuing favorable 

rulings in cases in which David Cary and Stacy Stine Cary are parties; 

and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said term that: 

COUNT SEVEN 

SUZANNE H. WOOTEN 
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hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about March 14, 2008, and before presentment of this 

indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there intentionally and knowingly 

solicit, accept, and agree to accept a benefit from another, namely Stacy Stine Cary, other than a 

political contribution as defined by Title 15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported 

in accordance with Chapter 305 of the Government Code, to-wit: $15,000, and the Defendant 

was a public servant, to-wit: a candidate for the office of Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court and presiding Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court, as consideration for Defendant's 

decision, opinion, recommendation, vote, and other exercise of discretion as a public servant and 

as consideration for Defendant's decision, vote, recommendation, and other exercise of official 

discretion in a judicial proceeding, to-wit: filing paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and 

continuing with a campaign to unseat the incumbent elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court, and as Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court presiding over and issuing favorable 

rulings in cases in which David Cary and Stacy Stine Cary are parties; 

and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said term that: 

COUNT EIGHT 

SUZANNE H. WOOTEN 

hereinafter styled Defendant on or about and between January 4, 2008 and March 14, 2008, and 

before the presentment of this indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there, 

pursuant to one scheme and continuing course of conduct, knowingly acquire, maintain an 

interest in, conceal, possess, transfer the proceeds of criminal activity, and conduct, supervise, 
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and facilitate a transaction involving the proceeds of criminal activity, to-wit: Bribery, and the 

aggregate value of said proceeds was $100,000 or more but less than $200,000 

and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said tenn that: 

COUNT NINE 

SUZANNE H. WOOTEN 

hereinafter styled Defendant on or about April 9, 2009, and before the presentment of this 

indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there, with intent to defraud and hann 

another, namely, the State of Texas, the Texas Ethics Commission, and the citizens of the State 

of Texas, intentionally and knowingly make, present, and use a governmental record with 

knowledge of its falsity, to-wit: prepared, swore, and affmned a Personal Financial Statement 

that was submitted to the Texas Ethics Commission and did not list and report all gifts and loans, 

as required by Texas Government Code Sec. 572.023, omitting Stacy Stine Cary, David Cary, 

and James Stephen Spencer under the heading "Gifts,n and the heading "Personal Notes and 

Lease Agreements," when in truth and in fact said Defendant had received gifts and loans from 

Stacy Stine Cary, David Cary, and James Stephen Spencer during the calendar year 2008; 

TOLLING PARAGRAPH 

And it is further presented in and to said Court that an indictment charging the offenses of 

Engaging in Organized Criminal Activity and Bribery is pending in a court of competent 

jurisdiction, to-wit: cause number 366-82214-10 in the 366th Judicial District Court, Collin 

10 



· . .. . 

County, styled State of Texas v. Suzanne H. Wooten, which was filed on October 14,2010 and 

remains pending on the date this Grand Jury presents this indictment to said Court. 

AGAINST THE PEACE AND DIGNITY OF THE STATE. 

-1 ;¥If/!; 
FOREMAN OF THEGRANn~' 

Witnesses: 

Glenda Anderson 

James P. Bailey 

Kyle Basinger 

John Beasley 

Alma Benavides 

Charity Borserine 

Amy Cabala 

Karen Callihan 

David Cary 

Stacy Stine Cary 

Alexis Katz Caughey 

George Henry Clements 

Gavin Cone 
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· . " . 

Darlina Crowder 

Daniel Dodd 

Michael Finley 

Kersten Alexander Hayes 

William D. Johnson 

Wendy Lee Kelly 

Paul Dennis Key 

David Marion Kleckner 

Tim Lambert 

Brian Loughmiller 

James Mosser 

Kimberlee Perkins 

Michael Puhl 

James Stephen Spencer 

Kyle Swihart 

Edward Lawson Valentine IV 

Karl Voightsberger 
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1/2512011 2:49 PM SCANNED 

NO, 366-82214-10 

STATE OF TEXAS § 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 

IN THE DISTRICT COURT 

vs, 366TH JUDICIAL DISTRICT 

HON. SUZANNE H. WOOTEN COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS 

MOTION TO OUASH AND EXCEPTION TO SUBSTANCE OF INDICTMENT 

TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE OF SAID COURT: 

Now comes Hon. Suzanne H. Wooten, Defendant, and brings this Motion to Quash and 

Exception to Substance of the Indictment and in support thereof shows: 

I. The Hon. Suzanne H. Wooten was charged by indictment on October 14, 2010 with 

the alleged offense of Engaging in Organized Criminal Activity along with six counts of 

Bribery. 

2. The offense, which is alleged to have been committed on or about September 17, 

2007 is a First Degree Felony. 

3. This exception is brought pursuant to the grounds specified in Article 27.08 of the 

Texas Code of Criminal Procedure, as well as Article I Sections 10 and 19 of the Texas 

Constitution and the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States 

Constitution. 

4. The accused's rights under the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments to be fairly 

informed of the charge against which she was required to defend was denied by the failure of 

the Indictment to allfjf ~$ntiar:~le~~ts of the offense, including, but not limited to, 
iI ~ t..~:, 1..... ~. ~,.f 

"Intentionally or knowing1~ solicits, accepts, or agrees to accept from another ... any 
11 JA~ 2~ Pr1 2: 311 

benefit. .. " PAT MI'CI' "Ojr." Er' r. "l . . , .~ll . 
Motion to Quash and Exception to Substance <fJ1&lRiGit,Otli...Kit 14·] D, Page I of 6 
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5. The Indictment is insufficient because it fails to contain the elements of the offense 

charged, fails to fairly inform the defendant of the charge against which she must defend, and 

because it fails to enable the defendant to plead an acquittal or conviction in bar of future 

prosecutions for the same offense. 

6. Defendant, Hon. Suzanne H. Wooten, alleges that it does not appear from the 

indictment that an offense against the law was committed by the Hon. Suzanne H. Wooten. 

Specifically, Defendant shows the following: 

a. That the Indictment does not allege which County in Texas that the offenses 

were allegedly committed. See, TEx. CODE CRIM. PROC. Art. 21.02(5) (Vernon 

2010). 

b. The indictment vaguely resembles Texas Penal Code Section 36.02(a)(2) in 

which it attempts to allege that the Defendant received funds "which was not a 

political contribution as defined by Title 15 of the Election Code or Expenditures 

made in accordance with Chapter 305 Government Code." However, in open Court 

on November 19, 2010, Mr. Brian Chandler, one of the Prosecuting Attorneys, stated 

that this case was about "direct expenditures to the Defendant's 2008 Judicial 

Campaign by a third party." Such alleged 4'expenditures" would be defined under 

Title 15 of the Election Code. Therefore, the Indictment is defective in that the State 

attempts to lessen their evidentiary burden by avoiding the showing of proof of any 

"direct evidence of an express agreement" between the parties pursuant to TEX. 

PEN. CODE §36.02(a)(4) (Vernon 2010). 

Motion to Quash and Exception (0 Substance of Indictment, 366-82214-10, Page 2 of 6 



c. Further, the Indictment states that the Defendant allegedly accepted such 

contributions for "presiding over and issuing favorable rulings in cases pending in the 

380th Judicial District Court." The Indictment is defective because it fails to specify 

which cases, if any, andlor how any rulings were "favorable." 

d. The Indictment also wholly fails to specify where any of the alleged 

contributions were either delivered to the Defendant or used by the Defendant for her 

benefit. It further fails to specify in which areas of the 2008 Judicial campaign, if 

any, these funds were expended. 

e. Therefore, the Engaging in Organized Criminal Activity allegation cannot 

stand alone and must also be quashed along with the six counts of bribery for the 

reasons stated supra. 

7. Furthermore, based upon information from several sources, including discovery items 

received from the Attorney General's Office, the original complaint that began this investigation 

came from Charles Sandoval, the incumbent Judge defeated by the Defendant in the 2008 

Republican Primary. This complaint, which was submitted to Mr. Sandoval's political ally John 

Roach on July 30, 2008, is attached to this Motion as Exhibit "A" and is fully incorporated by 

reference into this Motion. A second letter from Charles Sandoval, dated October 15,2008, was sent 

in follow-up to Christopher Milner of the Collin County District Attorney's Office. This letter, 

showing gross factual inaccuracies, is attached to this Motion as Exhibit "8" and is fully 

incorporated into this Motion. Defendant believes that this does not amount to a valid complaint and 

therefore this Indictment should be quashed in accordance with the law. 

Motion to Quash and Exception to Substance of Indictment. 366-82214-10. Page 3 of 6 



WHEREFORE, PREMISES CONSIDERED, Suzanne Wooten prays that the Court quash 

the indictment due to the above outlined defects of substance, and discharge Defendant. 

Respectfully submitted, 

SCHULTE & APGAR PLLC 
4131 N. Central Expressway 
Suite 680 
Dallas, Texas 75204 
Tel: (214) 521-2200 
Fax: (214) 739-3234 

BY:E~ 
PETER A. SCHULTE 
State Bar No. 24044677 
Attorney for Hon. Suzanne H. Wooten 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

This is to certify that on ~ ;;)5" , 20~, a true and correct copy of 

the above and foregoing document was served on the following by facsimile or U.s. First Class 

Certified Mail, RRR: 

Brion Chandler, Esq. 
On behalf of the Office of Texas Attorney General (including Eric l.R. Nichols, Esq. & Harry E. 
White, Esq.) 
Criminal Prosecution Division 
P.O. Box 12548 
Austin, Texas 78711-2548 
Phone: (512) 463-2529 
Facsimile: (512) 424-4570 

PETER A. SCHULTE 

Motion to Quash and Exception to Substance of Indictment. 366-82214-10, Page 4 of 6 



7/1512011 12:44 PM SCANNED 

THE STATE OF TEXAS V. DAVID CARY 
CAUSE # 3<0(0- g) 0'20·- .t--\)\ \ 

,. , 
PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION: Race: W Sex: M DOB: 6/20/1955 Height: 6'02" Weight: 240 _ 

Count One - Engaging in Organized Criminal Activity 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 71.02(a) 

DEGREE OF FELONY: FIRST OFFENSE CODE 73991005 BOND 

Count Two - Bribery 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 36.02 

DEGREE OF FELONY: FIRST OFFENSE CODE 5199018 BOND 

Count Three - Bribery 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 36.02 

DEGREE OF FELONY: SECOND OFFENSE CODE 5199018 BOND 

Count Four - Bribery 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 36.02 

DEGREE OF FELONY: SECOND OFFENSE CODE 5199018 BOND 

Count Five - Bribery 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 36.02 

DEGREE OF FELONY: SECOND OFFENSE CODE 5199018 BOND 

Count Six - Bribery 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 36.02 

DEGREE OF FELONY: SECOND OFFENSE CODE 5199018 BOND 

Count Seven - Bribery 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 36.02 

DEGREE OF FELONY: SECOND OFFENSE CODE 5199018 BOND 

R EXHIBIT 
& C I 



Count Eight - Money Laundering ($100,000 - $200,000) 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 34.02 

DEGREE OF FELONY: SECOND OFFENSE CODE2b'J' 0,(2- BOND ------
Companion Cases: Stacy Stine Cary, James Stephen Spencer, Suzanne H. Wooten 

IN THE 366th JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS 

GRAND JURY INDICTMENT 
(SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT) 

IN THE NAME AND BY THE AUTHORITY OF THE STATE OF TEXAS: 

THE GRAND JURY, for the County of COLLIN, State of Texas, duly organized, 

impaneled, and sworn as such as the July Term, A.D. 2011, of the 199th Judicial District Court 

for said County, upon their oaths present in and to said Court at said term that: 

COUNT ONE 

DAVID CARY 

hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about and between September 19,2007 and October 20, 

2009, and before presentment of this indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, with intent to 

establish, maintain, and participate in a combination and in the profits of a combination of three 

or more persons, namely, the Defendant, Suzanne H. Wooten, Stacy Stine Cary, and James 

Stephen Spencer, did commit and conspire to commit the following offenses: 

Bribery, in that the Defendant did then and there intentionally and knowingly offer, 

confer, and agree to confer a benefit, other than a political contribution as defined by Title 15, 

2 



Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with Chapter 305 of the 

Government Code, to-wit: one or more of the following transactions: 

Date of Transfer Date of Deposit Amount 

January 4, 2008 January 4, 2008 $50,000 

January 30, 2008 February 4, 2008 $25,000 

February 14, 2008 February 15,2008 $25,000 

February 26, 2008 February 26, 2008 $25,000 

March 7, 2008 March 7, 2008 $10,000 

March 14,2008 March 14, 2008 $15,000 

to Suzanne H. Wooten, a public servant, to-wit: a candidate for the office of Judge of the 380th 

Judicial District Court and presiding Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court, as consideration 

for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, opinion, recommendation, vote, and other exercise of 

discretion as a public servant and as consideration for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, vote, 

recommendation, and other exercise of official discretion in a judicial proceeding, to-wit: filing 

paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and continuing with a campaign to unseat the incumbent 

elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court, and as Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court 

presiding over and issuing favorable rulings in cases in which the Defendant and Stacy Stine 

Cary are parties; 

Money Laundering, in that the Defendant did then and there, pursuant to one scheme 

and continuing course of conduct, knowingly finance, invest, intend to finance and invest funds 

that the Defendant believed were intended to further the commission of criminal activity, to-wit: 

Bribery, and the aggregate value of said proceeds was $100,000 or more but less than $200,000; 

3 



Tampering with a Government Record, in that Suzanne H. Wooten did then and there, 

with intent to defraud and harm another, namely, the State of Texas, the Texas Ethics 

Commission, and the citizens of the State of Texas, intentionally and knowingly make, present, 

and use a governmental record with knowledge of its falsity, to-wit: prepared, swore, and 

affirmed a Personal Financial Statement that was submitted to the Texas Ethics Commission and 

did not list and report all gifts and loans, as required by Texas Government Code Sec. 572.023, 

omitting the Defendant, Stacy Stine Cary, and James Stephen Spencer under the heading "Gifts," 

and the heading "Personal Notes and Lease Agreements," when in truth and in fact said 

Defendant had received gifts and loans from the Defendant, Stacy Stine Cary, and James Stephen 

Spencer during the calendar year 2008; 

and in furtherance of the conspiracy to commit said offenses the Defendant performed 

one or more overt acts, to-wit: communicated with other members of the combination, and 

organized, planned, and supervised the other members of the combination; 

and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said tenn that: 

COUNT TWO 

DAVID CARY 

hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about January 4, 2008, and before presentment of this 

indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there intentionally and knowingly 

offer, confer, and agree to confer a benefit, other than a political contribution as defined by Title 

IS, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with Chapter 305 of the 

Government Code, to-wit: $50,000, to Suzanne H. Wooten, a public servant, to-wit: a candidate 

4 



for the office of Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court and presiding Judge of the 380th 

Judicial District Court, as consideration for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, opinion, 

recommendation, vote, and other exercise of discretion as a public servant and as consideration 

for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, vote, recommendation, and other exercise of official 

discretion in ajudicial proceeding, to-wit: filing paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and 

continuing with a campaign to unseat the incumbent elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court, and as Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court presiding over and issuing favorable 

rulings in cases in which the Defendant and Stacy Stine Cary are parties; 

and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said tenn that: 

COUNT THREE 

DAVID CARY 

hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about January 30, 2008, and before presentment of this 

indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there intentionally and knowingly 

offer, confer, and agree to confer a benefit, other than a political contribution as defmed by Title 

15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with Chapter 305 of the 

Government Code, to-wit: $25,000, to Suzanne H. Wooten, a public servant, to-wit: a candidate 

for the office of Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court and presiding Judge of the 380th 

Judicial District Court, as consideration for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, opinion, 

recommendation, vote, and other exercise of discretion as a public servant and as consideration 

for Suzarme H. Wooten's decision, vote, recommendation, and other exercise of official 

discretion in a judicial proceeding, to-wit: filing paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and 
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. __ ._ ... _ .. _--- ---------------------------

continuing with a campaign to unseat the incumbent elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court, and as Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court presiding over and issuing favorable 

rulings in cases in which the Defendant and Stacy Stine Cary are parties; 

and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said term that: 

COUNT FOUR 

DAVID CARY 

hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about February 14, 2008, and before presentment of this 

indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there intentionally and knowingly 

offer, confer, and agree to confer a benefit, other than a political contribution as defmed by Title 

15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with Chapter 305 of the 

Government Code, to-wit: $25,000, to Suzanne H. Wooten, a public servant, to-wit: a candidate 

for the office of Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court and presiding Judge of the 380th 

Judicial District Court, as consideration for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, opinion, 

recommendation, vote, and other exercise of discretion as a public servant and as consideration 

for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, vote, recommendation, and other exercise of official 

discretion in ajudicial proceeding, to-wit: filing paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and 

continuing with a campaign to unseat the incumbent elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court, and as Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court presiding over and issuing favorable 

rulings in cases in which the Defendant and Stacy Stine Cary are parties; 

and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said term that: 

6 



COUNT FIVE 

DAVID CARY 

hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about February 26, 2008, and before presentment of this 

indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there intentionally and knowingly 

offer, confer, and agree to confer a benefit, other than a political contribution as defined by Title 

15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with Chapter 305 of the 

Government Code, to-wit: $25,000, to Suzanne H. Wooten, a public servant, to-wit: a candidate 

for the office of Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court and presiding Judge of the 380th 

Judicial District Court, as consideration for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, opinion, 

recommendation, vote, and other exercise of discretion as a public servant and as consideration 

for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, vote, recommendation, and other exercise of official 

discretion in ajudicial proceeding, to-wit: filing paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and 

continuing with a campaign to unseat the incumbent elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court, and as Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court presiding over and issuing favorable 

rulings in cases in which the Defendant and Stacy Stine Cary are parties; 

and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said tenn that: 

COUNT SIX 

DAVID CARY 

hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about March 7, 2008, and before presentment of this 

indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there intentionally and knowingly 
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offer, confer, and agree to confer a benefit, other than a political contribution as defined by Title 

15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with Chapter 305 of the 

Government Code, to-wit: $10,000, to Suzanne H. Wooten, a public servant, to-wit: a candidate 

for the office of Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court and presiding Judge of the 380th 

Judicial District Court, as consideration for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, opinion, 

recommendation, vote, and other exercise of discretion as a public servant and as consideration 

for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, vote, recommendation, and other exercise of official 

discretion in a judicial proceeding, to-wit: filing paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and 

continuing with a campaign to unseat the incumbent elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court, and as Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court presiding over and issuing favorable 

rulings in cases in which the Defendant and Stacy Stine Cary are parties; 

and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said tenn that: 

COUNT SEVEN 

DAVID CARY 

hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about March 14,2008, and before presentment of this 

indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there intentionally and knowingly 

offer, confer, and agree to confer a benefit, other than a political contribution as defined by Title 

15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with Chapter 305 of the 

Government Code, to-wit: $15,000, to Suzanne H. Wooten, a public servant, to-wit: a candidate 

for the office of Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court and presiding Judge of the 380th 

Judicial District Court, as consideration for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, opinion, 
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recommendation, vote, and other exercise of discretion as a public servant and as consideration 

for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, vote, recommendation, and other exercise of official 

discretion in a judicial proceeding, to-wit: filing paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and 

continuing with a campaign to unseat the incumbent elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court, and as Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court presiding over and issuing favorable 

rulings in cases in which the Defendant and Stacy Stine Cary are parties; 

and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said tenn that: 

COUNT EIGHT 

DAVID CARY 

hereinafter styled Defendant on or about and between January 4, 2008 and March 14, 2008, and 

before the presentment of this indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there, 

pursuant to one scheme and continuing course of conduct, knowingly finance, invest, and intend 

to finance and invest funds that the Defendant believed were intended to further the commission 

ofcrlminal activity, to-wit: Bribery, and the aggregate value of said proceeds was $100,000 or 

more but less than $200,000; 

TOLLING PARAGRAPH 

And it is further presented in and to said Court that an indictment charging the offenses of 

Engaging in Organized Criminal Activity and Bribery is pending in a court of competent 

jurisdiction, to-wit: cause number 366-82211-10 in the 366th Judicial District Court, Collin 
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County, styled State of Texas v. David Cary, which was filed on October 14,2010 and remains 

pending on the date this Grand Jury presents this indictment to said Court. 

AGAINST THE PEACE AND DIGNITY OF THE STATE. 

Witnesses: 

Glenda Anderson 

James P. Bailey 

Kyle Basinger 

John Beasley 

Alma Benavides 

Charity Borserine 

Amy Cabala 

Karen Callihan 

David Cary 

Stacy Stine Cary 

Alexis Katz Caughey 

George Henry Clements 

Gavin Cone 
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· .. . 

Darlina Crowder 

Daniel Dodd 

Michael Finley 

Kersten Alexander Hayes 

William D. Johnson 

Wendy Lee Kelly 

Paul Dennis Key 

David Marion Kleckner 

Tim Lambert 

Brian Loughmiller 

James Mosser 

Kimberlee Perkins 

Michael Puhl 

James Stephen Spencer 

Kyle Swihart 

Edward Lawson Valentine IV 

Karl Voightsberger 

_._-- .. _- - ---------------------
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711512011 12:47 PM SCANNED 

THE STATE OF TEXAS V. STACY STINE CARY 
CAUSE # 3~&'- '6 \4;>2- ;,2.0\ \ , 

PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION: Race: W Sex: F DOB: 911111955 Height: 5'07" Weight: 150 

Count One - Engaging in Organized Criminal Activity 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 71.02(a) 

DEGREE OF FELONY: FIRST OFFENSE CODE 73991005 BOND _ _ _ _ _ 

Count Two - Bribery 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 36.02 

DEGREE OF FELONY: FIRST OFFENSE CODE 5199018 BOND ____ _ 

Count Three - Bribery 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 36.02 

DEGREE OF FELONY: SECOND OFFENSE CODE 51990 18 BOND 

Count Four - Bribery 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 36.02 

DEGREE OF FELONY: SECOI D OFFENSE CODE 5199018 BOND 

Count Five - Bribery 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 36.02 

DEGREE OF FELONY: SECOND OFFENSE CODE 5199018 BOND 

Count Six - Bribery 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 36.02 

DEGREE OF FELONY: SECOND OFFENSE CODE 5199018 BOND 

Count Seven - Bribery 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 36.02 

DEGREE OF FELONY: SECOND OFFENSE CODE 5199018 BOND 

!\ 
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Count Eight - Money Laundering ($100,000 - $200,000) 

CODE SECTION: TEXAS PENAL CODE § 34.02 

DEGREE OF FELONY: SECOND OFFENSE CODE '2 'l.Jtit> IS).. BOND ------
Companion Cases: David Cary, James Stephen Spencer, Suzanne H. Wooten 

IN THE 366th JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS 

GRAND JURY INDICTMENT 
(SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT) 

IN THE NAME AND BY THE AUTHORITY OF THE STATE OF TEXAS: 

THE GRAND JURY, for the County of COLLIN, State of Texas, duly organized, 

impaneled, and sworn as such as the July Term, A.D. 2011, of the 199th Judicial District Court 

for said County, upon their oaths present in and to said Court at said tenn that: 

COUNT ONE 

STACY STINE CARY 

hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about and between September 19, 2007 and October 20, 

2009, and before presentment of this indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, with intent to 

establish, maintain, and participate in a combination and in the profits of a combination of three 

or more persons, namely, the Defendant, Suzanne H. Wooten, David Cary, and James Stephen 

Spencer, did commit and conspire to commit the following offenses: 

Bribery, in that the Defendant did then and there intentionally and knowingly offer, 

confer, and agree to confer a benefit, other than a political contribution as defined by Title 15, 

2 



Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with Chapter 305 of the 

Government Code, to-wit: one or more of the following transactions: 

Date of Transfer Date of Deposit Amount 

January 4, 2008 January 4, 2008 $50,000 

January 30, 2008 February 4, 2008 $25,000 

February 14, 2008 February 15,2008 $25,000 

February 26, 2008 February 26, 2008 $25,000 

March 7, 2008 March 7, 2008 $10,000 

March 14,2008 March 14,2008 $15,000 

to Suzanne H. Wooten, a public servant, to-wit: a candidate for the office of Judge of the 380th 

Judicial District Court and presiding Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court, as consideration 

for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, opinion, recommendation, vote, and other exercise of 

discretion as a public servant and as consideration for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, vote, 

recommendation, and other exercise of official discretion in a judicial proceeding, to-wit: filing 

paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and continuing with a campaign to unseat the incumbent 

elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court, and as Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court 

presiding over and issuing favorable rulings in cases in which the Defendant and David Cary are 

parties; 

Money Laundering, in that the Defendant did then and there, pursuant to one scheme 

and continuing course of conduct, knowingly finance, invest, intend to finance and invest funds 

that the Defendant believed were intended to further the commission of criminal activity, to-wit: 

Bribery, and the aggregate value of said proceeds was $100,000 or more but less than $200,000; 

3 



Tampering with a Government Record, in that Suzanne H. Wooten did then and there, 

with intent to defraud and harm another, namely, the State of Texas, the Texas Ethics 

Commission, and the citizens of the State of Texas, intentionally and knowingly make, present, 

and use a governmental record with knowledge of its falsity, to-wit: prepared, swore, and 

affirmed a Personal Financial Statement that was submitted to the Texas Ethics Commission and 

did not list and report all gifts and loans, as required by Texas Government Code Sec. 572.023, 

omitting the Defendant, David Cary, and James Stephen Spencer under the heading "Gifts," and 

the heading "Personal Notes and Lease Agreements," when in truth and in fact said Defendant 

had received gifts and loans from the Defendant, David Cary, and James Stephen Spencer during 

the calendar year 2008; 

and in furtherance of the conspiracy to commit said offenses the Defendant perfonned 

one or more overt acts, to-wit: initiated, authorized, and executed six monetary transactions 

composed of wire transfers and checks totaling $150,000 to James Stephen Spencer; 

and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said term that: 

COUNT TWO 

STACY STINE CARY 

hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about January 4, 2008, and before presentment of this 

indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there intentionally and knowingly 

offer, confer, and agree to confer a benefit, other than a political contribution as defined by Title 

15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with Chapter 305 of the 

Government Code, to-wit: $50,000, to Suzanne H. Wooten, a public servant, to-wit: a candidate 

4 



for the office of Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court and presiding Judge of the 380th 

Judicial District Court, as consideration for Suzanne H. Wooten's decisio~ opinion, 

recommendation, vote, and other exercise of discretion as a public servant and as consideration 

for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, vote, recommendation, and other exercise of official 

discretion in a judicial proceeding, to-wit: filing paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and 

continuing with a campaign to unseat the incumbent elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court, and as Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court presiding over and issuing favorable 

rulings in cases in which the Defendant and David Cary are parties; 

and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said tenn that: 

COUNT THREE 

STACY STINE CARY 

hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about January 30, 2008, and before presentment of this 

indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there intentionally and knowingly 

offer, confer, and agree to confer a benefit, other than a political contribution as defmed by Title 

15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with Chapter 305 of the 

Government Code, to-wit: $25,000, to Suzanne H. Wooten, a public servant, to-wit: a candidate 

for the office of Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court and presiding Judge of the 380th 

Judicial District Court, as consideration for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, opinion, 

recommendation, vote, and other exercise of discretion as a public servant and as consideration 

for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, vote, recommendation, and other exercise of official 

discretion in a judicial proceeding, to-wit: filing paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and 
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continuing with a campaign to unseat the incumbent elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court, and as Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court presiding over and issuing favorable 

rulings in cases in which the Defendant and David Cary are parties; 

and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said tenn that: 

COUNT FOUR 

STACY STINE CARY 

hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about February 14, 2008, and before presentment of this 

indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there intentionally and knowingly 

offer, confer, and agree to confer a benefit, other than a political contribution as defmed by Title 

15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with Chapter 305 of the 

Government Code, to-wit: $25,000, to Suzanne H. Wooten, a public servant, to-wit: a candidate 

for the office of Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court and presiding Judge of the 380th 

Judicial District Court, as consideration for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, opinion, 

recommendation, vote, and other exercise of discretion as a public servant and as consideration 

for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, vote, recommendation, and other exercise of official 

discretion in a judicial proceeding, to-wit: filing paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and 

continuing with a campaign to unseat the incumbent elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court, and as Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court presiding over and issuing favorable 

rulings in cases in which the Defendant and David Cary are parties; 

and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said tenn that: 
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COUNT FIVE 

ST ACY STINE CARY 

hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about February 26, 2008, and before presentment of this 

indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there intentionally and knowingly 

offer, confer, and agree to confer a benefit, other than a political contribution as defined by Title 

15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with Chapter 305 of the 

Government Code, to ... wit: $25,000, to Suzanne H. Wooten, a public servant, to ... wit: a candidate 

for the office of Judge of the 380m Judicial District Court and presiding Judge of the 380th 

Judicial District Court, as consideration for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, opinion, 

recommendation, vote, and other exercise of discretion as a public servant and as consideration 

for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, vote, recommendation, and other exercise of official 

discretion in a judicial proceeding, to-wit: filing paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and 

continuing with a campaign to unseat the incumbent elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court, and as Judge of the 380m Judicial District Court presiding over and issuing favorable 

rulings in cases in which the Defendant and David Cary are parties; 

and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said tenn that: 

COUNT SIX 

STACY STINE CARY 

hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about March 7, 2008, and before presentment of this 

indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there intentionally and knowingly 
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offer, confer, and agree to confer a benefit, other than a political contribution as defined by Title 

15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with Chapter 305 of the 

Government Code, tOawit: $10,000, to Suzanne H. Wooten, a public servant, to-wit: a candidate 

for the office of Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court and presiding Judge of the 380th 

Judicial District Court, as consideration for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, opinion, 

recommendation, vote, and other exercise of discretion as a public servant an~ as consideration 

for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, vote, recommendation, and other exercise of official 

discretion in a judicial proceeding, to-wit: filing paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and 

continuing with a campaign to unseat the incwnbent elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court, and as Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court presiding over and issuing favorable 

rulings in cases in which the Defendant and David Cary are parties; 

and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said term that: 

COUNT SEVEN 

STACY STINE CARY 

hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about March 14, 2008, and before presentment of this 

indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there intentionally and knowingly 

offer, confer, and agree to confer a benefit, other than a political contribution as defmed by Title 

15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with Chapter 305 of the 

Government Code, to-wit: $15,000, to Suzanne H. Wooten, a public servant, to-wit: a candidate 

for the office of Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court and presiding Judge of the 380th 

Judicial District Court, as consideration for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, opinion, 

8 



recommendation, vote, and other exercise of discretion as a public servant and as consideration 

for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, vote, recommendation, and other exercise of official 

discretion in a judicial proceeding, to-wit: filing paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and 

continuing with a campaign to unseat the incumbent elected Judge of the 380th Judicial District 

Court, and as Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court presiding over and issuing favorable 

rulings in cases in which the Defendant and David Cary are parties; 

and the Grand Jury further presents in and to said Court at said term that: 

COUNT EIGHT 

STACY STINE CARY 

hereinafter styled Defendant on or about and between January 4, 2008 and March 14, 2008, and 

before the presentment of this indictment, in the County and State aforesaid, did then and there, 

pursuant to one scheme and continuing course of conduct, knowingly finance, invest, and intend 

to finance and invest funds that the Defendant believed were intended to further the commission 

of criminal activity, to-wit: Bribery, and the aggregate value of said proceeds was $100,000 or 

more but less than $200,000; 

TOLLING PARAGRAPH 

And it is further presented in and to said Court that an indictment charging the offenses of 

Engaging in Organized Criminal Activity and Bribery is pending in a court of competent 

jurisdiction, to-wit: cause number 366-82212-10 in the 366th Judicial District Court, Collin 
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County~ styled State of Texas v. Stacy Stine Cary, which was filed on October 14,2010 and 

remains pending on the date this Grand Jury presents this indictment to said Court. 

AGAINST THE PEACE AND DIGNITY OF THE STATE. 

Witnesses: 

Glenda Anderson 

James P. Bailey 

Kyle Basinger 

John Beasley 

Alma Benavides 

Charity Borserine 

Amy Cabala 

Karen Callihan 

David Cary 

Stacy Stine Cary 

Alexis Katz Caughey 

George Henry Clements 

Gavin Cone 
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Darlina Crowder 

Daniel Dodd 

Michael Finley 

Kersten Alexander Hayes 

William D. Johnson 

Wendy Lee Kelly 

Paul Dennis Key 

David Marion Kleckner 

Tim Lambert 

Brian Loughmiller 

James Mosser 

Kimberlee Perkins 

Michael Puhl 

James Stephen Spencer 

Kyle Swihart 

Edward Lawson Valentine IV 

Karl Voightsberger 
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In The 
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No. 05-12-01421-CR 

STACY STINE CARY, Appellant 
v. 

THE STATE OF TEXAS, Appellee 

On Appeal from the 366th Judicial District Court 
Collin County, Texas 

Trial Court Cause No. 366-81637-2011 

DISSENTING OPINION 

Before Justices FitzGerald, Lang, and Fillmore 
Dissenting Opinion by Justice FitzGerald 

I dissent from the majority's opinion and judgment because the evidence is insufficient to 

support appellant's convictions. 

With respect to the bribery charges at the heart of this case, this case is most unusual 

because the State's evidence is not merely insufficient-it affirmatively negates an essential 

element of the bribery charges and proves appellant not gUilty. To convict appellant under the 

penal-code sections relied on by the State, sections 36.02(a)(1) and (a)(2), the State had to prove 

that certain transfers of funds by appellant were not political contributions. But the State's own 

theory of the case was that the transfers were political contributions-monies intended to be 

spent on a particular judicial candidate's campaign for office. Accordingly, the State could not 

properly charge appellant under sections 36.02(a)(1) and (a)(2), yet it did. Only section 
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36.02(a)(4) deals with political contributions of the sort involved in this case, and that section 

carries considerably more onerous requirements than the State was required to prove under 

sections 36.02(a)(I) and (a)(2) in this case. 

I. BRIBERY 

A. Applicable law 

Appellant was convicted of six counts of bribery. The bribery statute provides as 

follows: 

(a) A person commits an offense if he intentionally or knowingly offers, confers, 
or agrees to confer on another, or solicits, accepts, or agrees to accept from 
another: 

(1) any benefit as consideration for the recipient's decision, OpInIOn, 
recommendation, vote, or other exercise of discretion as a public servant, 
party official, or voter; 

(2) any benefit as consideration for the recipient's decision, vote, 
recommendation, or other exercise of official discretion in a judicial or 
administrative proceeding; 

(3) any benefit as consideration for a violation of a duty imposed by law on a 
public servant or party official; or 

(4) any benefit that is a political contribution as defined by Title 15, Election 
Code, or that is an expenditure made and reported in accordance with Chapter 
305, Government Code, if the benefit was offered, conferred, solicited, 
accepted, or agreed to pursuant to an express agreement to take or withhold a 
specific exercise of official discretion if such exercise of official discretion 
would not have been taken or withheld but for the benefit; notwithstanding 
any rule of evidence or jury instruction allowing factual inferences in the 
absence of certain evidence, direct evidence of the express agreement shall be 
required in any prosecution under this subdivision. 

(b) It is no defense to prosecution under this section that a person whom the actor 
sought to influence was not qualified to act in the desired way whether because he 
had not yet assumed office or he lacked jurisdiction or for any other reason. 

(c) It is no defense to prosecution under this section that the benefit is not offered 
or conferred or that the benefit is not solicited or accepted until after: 

(1) the decision, opinion, recommendation, vote, or other exercise of 
discretion has occurred; or 
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(2) the public servant ceases to be a public servant. 

(d) It is an exception to the application of Subdivisions (I), (2), and (3) of 
Subsection (a) that the benefit is a political contribution as defined by Title 15, 
Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with Chapter 
305, Government Code. 

(e) An offense under this section is a felony of the second degree. I 

The court of criminal appeals has explained that the phrase "as consideration for" means that the 

accused offered or conferred the benefit "as an inducement to an illegal contract, that of 

bribery."2 When the allegation is that the accused actually conferred the benefit, the statute 

requires "a bilateral arrangement-in effect an illegal contract to exchange a benefit as 

consideration for the performance of an official function.m The McCallum court favorably 

quoted commentary from the Model Penal Code in which the drafters opined on the significance 

of the "consideration" requirement in modem bribery statutes: "This is the more conventional 

formula in bribery legislation, and prevents application of the bribery sanction to situations 

where gifts are given in mere hope of influencing, without any agreement by the donee."4 Even 

when the conduct made the basis of a charge is an offer instead of a completed transfer of a 

benefit, the statute requires purposeful conduct aimed at an illegal contract-that is, an offer of a 

benefit with the purpose of accomplishing an exchange of the benefit for an official action.s 

The superseding indictment charged appellant with bribery in counts two through seven. 

Count two is illustrative of all six of those counts, and in that count the State alleged as follows: 

I TEX. PENAL CODE ANN. § 36.02 (West 2011) (emphasis added). 

2 McCallum v. State, 686 S.W.2d 132, 135 (Tex. Crim. App. 1985). 

3 1d. at 136. 

4 1d. at 135 (quoting Model Penal Code, Reprint-Proposed Official Draft, § 240.1 (May 4, 1962» (emphasis in original). 

S See Martinez v. Stale, 696 S.W.2d 930, 933 (Tex. App.-Austin 1985, pet. refd). 

-3-



COUNT TWO 

STACY STINE CARY 

hereinafter styled Defendant, on or about January 4, 2008~ and before presentment of this 

indictment, in the County and State aforesaid. did then and there intentionally and knowingly 

offer, confer, and agree to confer a benefit, other than a political contribution as defined by Title 

15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with Chapter 305 of the 

Government Code, to~wit: $50 t OOO, to Suzanne H. Wooten, a public servant, to-wit: a candidate 

for the office of Judge of the 380th Judicial District Court and presiding Judge of the 3Wh 

Judicial District Co~ as consideration for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision. opinion. 

recommendation, vote, and other exercise of discretion as a public servant and as consideration 

for Suzanne H. Wooten's decision, vote, rcco~ndatio~ and other exercise of official 

discretion in a judicial proceeding. to-wit: filing paperwork to run for Judge, proceeding and 

continuing with a campaign to unseat the incumbent elected Judge of the 380m Judicial District 

Co~ and as Judge of the 3go'h Judicial District Court presiding over and issuing favorable 

rulings in cases in which the Defendant and David Cary are parties; 

The jury was charged that appellant could be guilty of bribery either as a principal or as a 

party. Under the law of parties, a person is guilty of an offense if the offense is committed by 

another and the person is criminally responsible for the other person's conduct.6 As relevant to 

this case, a person is criminally responsible for another's conduct if, acting with intent to 

promote or assist the commission of the offense, the person solicits, encourages, directs, aids, or 

attempts to aid the other person to commit the offense.? To convict appellant of bribery as a 

6 TEx. PENAL CODE ANN. § 7.0 \ (West 20 \1). 

? Id. § 7.02(a)(2). 
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party, the State had to prove (1) that someone else committed bribery, and (2) that appellant 

committed a listed act with the intent to promote or assist the commission ofbribery.8 

Under the appropriate standard of review, we consider all of the evidence in the light 

most favorable to the jury's verdict and determine whether a rational fact finder could have 

found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt, based on the evidence and 

the reasonable inferences therefrom.9 We must defer to the jury's credibility and weight 

determinations because the jury is the sole judge of the credibility of the witnesses and the 

weight to be given to their testimony.1O It is not necessary for every fact to point directly and 

independently to appellant's guilt for us to uphold the conviction; the evidence is sufficient if the 

finding of guilt is warranted by the cumulative force of all the incriminating evidence. I I 

B. Summary of the evidence 

In 2003, appellant's future husband David Cary filed for divorce from his previous wife 

Jennifer Cary in the 380th Judicial District Court of Collin County. Charles Sandoval was the 

presiding judge of that court. The parties were divorced in October 2004, but contentious child-

custody issues arose repeatedly after the divorce decree was signed. Appellant concedes the 

evidence supports the propositions that her husband thought Judge Sandoval was a bad and 

unfair judge, and that her husband wanted Judge Sandoval to be defeated in 2008. 

There was evidence that James Spencer met with the Carys in October 2007, and that 

they discussed several topics, including promotion of "family-centered advocacy, with an 

emphasis on parental rights." The State introduced into evidence a purported engagement letter 

from Spencer to appellant dated October 1, 2007, in which Spencer stated that he would provide 

8 See Beier 1'. Stale, 687 S.W.2d 2,3 (Tex. Crim. App. 1985). 

9 Winfrey v. Slale, 393 S.W.3d 763, 768 (Tex. Crim. App. 2013). 

101d. 
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consulting services in four areas for $150 per hour up to a maximum budget of $250,000. The 

majority concludes that the jury could have inferred that Spencer actually created this document 

much later, perhaps as late as 2009, to create an explanation for appellant's large transfers of 

funds to Spencer in early 2008. The evidence of the services Spencer allegedly performed for 

appellant under the agreement was such that the jury could have concluded that Spencer's 

services were not worth the $150,000 that appellant paid Spencer in the first three months of 

2008. 

There was evidence that in December 2007, Spencer recruited Suzanne Wooten to run 

against Judge Sandoval in the 2008 Republican primary, which was to be held on March 4, 2008. 

Wooten asked Spencer to be her campaign manager. Wooten filed as a candidate in the 

Republican primary on January 2, 2008, and appointed attorney Alma Benavides as her 

campaign treasurer. Soon thereafter, appellant transferred sums of money to Spencer as follows: 

January 4 
January 30 
February 14 
February 26 
March 7 
March 14 

$50,000 
$25,000 
$25,000 
$25,000 
$10,000 
$15,000 

Each of those transfers was the basis of one of the six bribery counts against appellant. Spencer 

testified that he used the money from appellant to pay for Wooten's campaign, but he also 

testified that it was his money to spend, that he thought Wooten would pay him back, and that 

Wooten did pay him back. As is chronicled in the majority opinion, appellant's payments to 

Spencer generally correlated with (1) the timing of certain telephone calls involving Spencer, the 

Carys' home telephone, David Cary's cell phone, Wooten, and campaign consultant Hank 

Clements, and (2) the timing of certain financial needs of the Wooten campaign. Given the 

evidence, the jury could reasonably infer that appellant made the payments when Spencer 

requested them, and that Spencer's requests were related to the financial needs of the Wooten 
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campaign rather than any particular work he had done for appellant under the alleged October 

2007 consulting agreement. The evidence did not show that Spencer ever made his requests for 

money directly to appellant; the evidence showed only that, around the times of the payments, 

Spencer had communications involving either David Cary's cell phone or the Carys' home 

telephone. 

The State adduced other circumstantial evidence. David Cary's co-worker Jay Valentine 

testified that he had heard David Cary say Wooten was going to change rulings made in David 

Cary's family-law matter and that Spencer had "fixed his situation with the judge, and was going 

to get his situation reversed." Valentine also testified that Spencer said he "owned" Wooten. 

But there was no evidence that appellant was present when any of these statements were made. 

There was also evidence that Spencer and David Cary were particularly interested in the United 

States Supreme Court's Caperton l2 decision about the ramifications of campaign contributions to 

judges. There was evidence that David Cary told Spencer when David Cary's ex-wife hired 

Wooten's campaign treasurer Benavides to represent her in their family-law case, that Spencer 

told Benavides and her law partner that they did not want to be involved in the case, and that 

Wooten recused herself after Benavides appeared in the case. And there was evidence that 

Wooten did not voluntarily recuse herself from appellant's lawsuit against Jennifer Cary and 

Israel Suster even though Benavides and her law partner appeared on Jennifer Cary's behalf in 

that matter. 

C. Application of the law to the facts 

The question presented is whether a rational jury, assessing all the evidence adduced at 

trial, could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that appellant herself committed bribery or 

12 Caperton v. A. T. Massey Coal Co .• Inc., 556 U.S. 868 (2009). 
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that she encouraged or helped her husband or Spencer commit bribery with the intent to promote 

or assist the commission of the evidence. In my view, the answer is no, for several reasons. 

1. The "political contribution" exception 

The following analysis falls in the category of unassigned error. In my judgment, there 

must be an exceptional reason for entertaining unassigned error. This is such a case. 

The State's theory of its bribery case was that appellant paid Spencer the $150,000 to 

spend on Wooten's judicial campaign. Although sections 36.02(a)(l) and (a)(2) of the bribery 

statute required, among other things, that the money not be a political contribution, and the 

indictment so alleged, the State's evidence showed the money was a political contribution. Thus, 

in offering evidence to prove bribery under sections 36.02(a)(l) and (a)(2), the State 

simultaneously negated an essential element of its case-that the payments were not political 

contributions. In addition, such evidence demonstrated that the prosecution could properly be 

brought under section 36.02(a)(4), with its attendant requirement of direct evidence of an express 

agreement. 

We raise error sua sponte under the unassigned-error doctrine if the record discloses an 

error that should be addressed in the interest of justice. 13 A serious concern is that the bench and 

bar will construe the majority opinion as approval of a prosecution brought under sections 

36.02(a)( 1) and (a)(2), notwithstanding that the foundation of the case is built upon political 

contributions. Another concern is that the State failed to prove a substantial and critical element 

of the offense. Not only did the State fail to prove an element, the State also proved appellant 

was not guilty of the crime charged. By disproving an element, that is, by proving the funds 

were political contributions, the State proved appellant did not commit and could not have 

committed the offenses charged and thus could not legally be convicted of a criminal offense 

13 See Perez v. Siale, 323 S.W.3d 298,307 n.5 (Tex. App.-Amarillo 2010, pet. refd). 
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under sections 36.02(a)(I) and (a)(2). A conviction for conduct that does not constitute an 

offense under the law is an injustice we may not ignore. Bribery charges, as serious as they are, 

must be properly brought and proved under the appropriate statutory provisions. 

The State, in seeking a conviction under sections 36.02(a)(1) and (a)(2), sidestepped the 

obligation imposed by section 36.02(a)( 4) to produce direct evidence of an express agreement 

and ignored the clear application of section 36.02(a)(4). An affirmance gives the seal of 

approval to a completely misdirected and unsupported prosecution and conviction that are not 

supported by law. For the more detailed reasons that follow, this case demands unassigned-error 

review. 

At the outset, let us closely examine the provisions of the bribery statute. Sections 

36.02(a)(1) and (a)(2) basically proscribe conferring a benefit on a public servant as 

consideration for an exercise of discretion as a public servant, or official discretion in a judicial 

proceeding. 

Section 36.02(d) creates an exception to sections 36.02(a)(1), (a)(2), and (a)(3) for 

certain political contributions and political expenditures. In other words, if the exception applies, 

a person may not be prosecuted under either provision because, as to the particular circumstances 

described, political contributions, the person has not committed a criminal offense. The State is 

obliged to "negate the existence of an exception in the accusation charging commission of the 

offense and prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant or defendant's conduct does not 

fall within the exception."14 

Accordingly, the superseding indictment specifically alleged that the benefits appellant 

offered to or conferred on Wooten were benefits "other than a political contribution as defined 

14 TEX. PENAL CODE ANN. § 2.02 (West 2011). 
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by Title IS, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with Chapter 30S 

of the Government Code."15 The relevant provisions of the election code provide: 

(2) "Contribution" means a direct or indirect transfer of money, goods, services, 
or any other thing of value and includes an agreement made or other obligation 
incurred, whether legally enforceable or not, to make a transfer. The term includes 
a loan or extension of credit, other than those expressly excluded by this 
subdivision, and a guarantee of a loan or extension of credit, including a loan 
described by this subdivision. The term does not include: 

(A) a loan made in the due course of business by a corporation that is legally 
engaged in the business of lending money and that has conducted the business 
continuously for more than one year before the loan is made; or 

(8) an expenditure required to be reported under Section 30S.006(b), 
Government Code. 

(3) "Campaign contribution" means a contribution to a candidate or political 
committee that is offered or given with the intent that it be used in connection 
with a campaign for elective office or on a measure. Whether a contribution is 
made before, during, or after an election does not affect its status as a campaign 
contribution. 

(4) "Officeholder contribution" means a contribution to an officeholder or 
political committee that is offered or given with the intent that it be used to defray 
expenses that: 

(A) are incurred by the officeholder in performing a duty or engaging in an 
activity in connection with the office; and 

(8) are not reimbursable with public money. 

(S) "Political contribution" means a campaign contribution or an officeholder 
contribution. 

(6) "Expenditure" means a payment of money or any other thing of value and 
includes an agreement made or other obligation incurred, whether legally 
enforceable or not, to make a payment. 

(7) "Campaign expenditure" means an expenditure made by any person in 
connection with a campaign for an elective office or on a measure. Whether an 
expenditure is made before, during, or after an election does not affect its status as 
a campaign expenditure. 16 

IS See TEX. PENAL CODE ANN. § 32.06(d). 

16 TEX. ELEC. CODE ANN. § 251.00 I (2H7) (West 2010). 
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The State contended and the State's evidence showed that the monies transferred in this 

case were political contributions-monies used to defray political expenditures incurred by 

Wooten during her election campaign. Indeed, that was the heart of the State's theory of the 

case. Thus, section 36.02(d) comes into play, making the provisions of the bribery statute under 

which appellant was prosecuted inapplicable. In other words, under the facts in this case, in 

order to prosecute appellant under subsections (a)(1) and (a)(2), the State had to allege and prove 

the monies were not political contributions. The State properly alleged this, but the State's proof 

showed the opposite, that the monies were political contributions used to pay political 

expenditures. 

If appellant had been prosecuted under the proper provision, section 36.02(a)(4), the 

State would have had to allege and prove "an express agreement." This provision also 

emphasized that "notwithstanding any rule of evidence or jury instruction allowing factual 

inferences in the absence of certain evidence, direct evidence of the express agreement shall be 

required in any prosecution under this subdivision."17 The record is bare of such evidence. 

If these convictions for bribery were permitted to stand, the distinction between a 

straightforward bribery scheme involving the improper payment of money for an exercise of 

discretion or the inappropriate extension of special treatment in a non-election context and the 

unique circumstances present in an election context-circumstances that are inherently sensitive 

because of the nature of the political campaign process-with its additional elements of proof 

necessary to secure a conviction, would be erased by judicial fiat. 

The majority concludes that the jury was entitled to find that appellant's payments to 

Spencer were not political contributions because there was evidence that those payments 

exceeded the legal contribution limits and there was evidence that Wooten did not report them in 

17 See TEX. PENAL CODE ANN. § 36.02(a)(4) (emphasis added). 
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compliance with the election code. But the definitions of "contribution," "campaign 

contribution," and "political contribution" do not incorporate these other legal requirements. In 

other words, an illegal political contribution is still a political contribution. 

The State adduced no evidence that appellant conferred any benefits on Wooten that were 

not political contributions as defined by Title 15 of the election code. Further, the State adduced 

evidence appellant was not guilty of the offense charged. Accordingly, the State failed to prove 

an essential element of its case under sections 36.02(a)(l), (a)(2), and (d); accordingly, we 

should reverse all six convictions for bribery and render judgments of acquittal. 

2. Lack of consideration 

The matter does not end there. Sections 36.02(a)(l), (a)(2), and (a)(4) all require a 

benefit to be conferred on someone (in this case, Wooten) in consideration for the recipient's 

decision, opinion, recommendation, vote or other exercise of discretion as a public servant. The 

first two methods delineated in the indictment, and the State's evidence related thereto, involved 

Wooten's "filing paperwork to run for Judge and proceeding and continuing with a campaign to 

unseat the incumbent elected Judge." Neither act is inherently criminal. Neither act constituted 

consideration. And neither constituted a decision or act of discretion by Wooten as a public 

servant. These acts constituted only steps in the process of Wooten's attaining public office, that 

is, attaining the position of judge. Encouraging a person to run for office, any office, in and of 

itself, is a lawful and acceptable civic act, as is becoming a candidate for public office. 

Encouraging a person to proceed and continue with a campaign to unseat an incumbent judge is 

likewise a lawful and acceptable civic act. It is common for citizens to engage in such acts on a 

regular basis, and both acts are considered public spirited. 18 The bribery statute and the 

18 This scenario is different from the fact pattern presented in cases like Valencia v. Siale, No. 13-02-020-CR, 2004 WL 1416239 (Tex. 
App.-Corpus Christi June 24, 2004, pet. refd) (mem. op., not designated for publication). Valencia was a routine bribery case in which a 
county commissioner offered to vote for two men to be appointed as county constables if they agreed to exercise their discretion to hire as 
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traditional idea of bribery involve the quid pro quo of paying a public servant so that the 

recipient will make decisions desired by the payor once the recipient assumes office.19 In other 

words, bribery addresses graft and corruption. If acts such as encouraging a person to file or 

encouraging a person to keep running for office can be construed as the consideration to 

establish bribery, the statute will condemn legitimate civil and political activity and it will be left 

only to the State's imagination what an indictment could allege in terms of similar acts, such as 

seeking the signatures of enough voters to qualify to run, attending specific political events or 

gaining endorsements, and the like.20 In summary, these first two alleged acts of filing 

paperwork to run and continuing to run constitute but steps in the political process, and neither 

constitutes the kinds of decisions or exercises of discretion contemplated by the statute as 

consideration. 

Accordingly, we should render judgment acquitting appellant of all six counts of bribery. 

3. Insufficiency of the evidence as to other elements 

Even setting aside the State's failure to disprove the political-contribution exception and 

the lack-of-consideration defect described above, I agree with appellant that the evidence was 

insufficient to support her bribery convictions. The jury reasonably could have believed that 

appellant's consulting agreement with Spencer was merely a cover story to justify appellant's 

sending Spencer money to pay for Wooten's campaign expenses. The jury reasonably could 

have believed that appellant wanted to help elect Wooten because she thought Judge Sandoval 

was a bad judge and was treating appellant's husband unfairly in his ongoing litigation with his 

deputies two people designated by the county commissioner. [d. at * 1. A paid job is clearly a benefit, unlike a decision to run for office or a 
decision to continue an already-started political campaign. 

19 See United States v. Ciavarella, 716 F.3d 705, 731 (3d Cir. 2013) ("A payment constitutes a bribe as long as the essential intent-a 
specific intent to give or receive something of value in exchange for an official act-exists.") (internal quotation and citation omitted), cert. 
denied, 134 S. Ct. 1491 (2014)~ United States v. Wright, 936 F. Supp. 2d 538, 545 (E.D. Pa. 2013) ("Bribery involves a 'quid pro quo-a specific 
intent to give or receive something of value in exchange for an official act."') (citation omitted). 

20 See Luzerne Cnty. Retirement Bd. v. Maknwski, 627 F. Supp. 2d 506, 561 (M.D. Pa. 2007) ("(A]ccepting a compaign contribution does 
not equal taking a bribe unless the payment is in exchange for an explicit promise to perform or not perform an official act.") (internal quotation 
and citation omitted). 
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ex-wife. The jury reasonably could have believed even that appellant expected and hoped that 

Wooten would make rulings favorable to appellant's husband in that litigation. But, in my view, 

there is insufficient evidence to permit a reasonable jury to conclude beyond a reasonable doubt 

that appellant conferred monetary benefits on Wooten as consideration for Wooten's joining the 

race, for her staying in the race, or for favorable judicial rulings in cases. Nor is there sufficient 

evidence to permit a reasonable jury to conclude beyond a reasonable doubt (I) that appellant's 

husband or Spencer conferred monetary benefits on Wooten as consideration for Wooten's 

joining or staying in the race, or for favorable rulings in cases or (2) that appellant intentionally 

promoted or assisted them in committing that offense. 

Before delving into the evidence, I point out that the State makes no argument that 

appellant was guilty under the "offers" or the "agrees to confer" prongs of the bribery statute. 

Although the State alludes to these theories and cites general but inapplicable authority, it does 

not set forth any facts which would establish either theory, and I have found no such facts in the 

record evidence. The majority recites evidence at length, notes the allegations in the indictment 

of offer, agree to confer, and confer and distinguishes the McCallum decision on the basis that 

McCallum involved only conferring, not offering or agreeing to confer. The majority thus 

excuses the State from the necessity of establishing a bilateral agreement in this case because the 

State alleged offering and agreeing-to-confer theories, even though the evidence at most supports 

only the "conferring" theory. The majority ultimately upholds the bribery convictions based on 

the theories and allegations for offering, agreeing to confer, and conferring as they relate to 

proceeding and continuing to run and for favorable rulings, but not as to filing paperwork to run 

for judge. Like the State, the majority fails to identify any evidence supporting the convictions 

on the theory that appellant offered or agreed to confer benefits in exchange for Wooten's 

proceeding and continuing to run and for favorable rulings. 
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In my judgment, all six of the bribery counts rest only on actual conferral of benefits­

specific payments of specific amounts of money. Accordingly, I will not discuss the submitted 

but unsupported theories that appellant illegally offered Wooten any benefits or illegally agreed 

to confer any benefits on Wooten. 

a. Becoming a candidate 

The State's first theory is that appellant bribed Wooten as consideration for Wooten to 

file the paperwork to become a candidate for the Republican nomination to be judge of the 380th 

Judicial District Court. The majority concludes it is unnecessary to address this theory but notes 

appellant's argument that paying or offering to pay someone to become a candidate is not bribery 

as the offense is defined in the statute. I would address appellant's argument and rule in her 

favor. Before Wooten filed her paperwork to run for the Republican nomination, Wooten was 

not a "public servant" as defined in the statute.21 So even if appellant or someone in league with 

her paid or offered to pay Wooten money as consideration for Wooten's becoming a candidate, 

that conduct would not be bribery. 

Moreover, I see no evidence that appellant did such a thing before Wooten filed her 

paperwork to become a candidate, nor that her husband or Spencer committed such conduct 

either with or without appellant's aid or encouragement. There is evidence that Spencer 

recruited Wooten to run against Judge Sandoval, but there is no evidence that he gave her any 

improper inducement to do so. 

h. Remaining a candidate 

The State's second theory is that appellant bribed Wooten as consideration for Wooten to 

proceed with or continue her campaign to become judge of the 380th Judicial District Court. 

The evidence supporting this theory fails on the essential element that the payments were made 

21 See TEX. PENAL CODE ANN. § 1.07(41) (West Supp. 2013) (defining "public servant"). 
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"as consideration for" Wooten's decision to continue her campaign. Again, as McCallum makes 

clear, a benefit conferred in the mere hope of influencing the recipient is not bribery; the benefit 

must be conferred for the purpose of achieving an exchange for the recipient's decision or 

action.22 

The critical defect in the evidence is the lack of any proof of the requisite intent and 

exchange-there is no evidence that appellant, David Cary, or Spencer conferred any benefit on 

Wooten as consideration for Wooten's decision(s) to stay in the primary race against Judge 

Sandoval. The State argues that it did not have to prove that Wooten ever actually considered 

dropping out of the race, and this is correct. But the State did have to prove that appellant or 

someone in league with appellant conferred benefits on Wooten as consideration for-that is, in 

exchange for-Wooten's staying in the race. Proving that the benefits were conferred, even 

under dubious circumstances, does not prove the specific intent required for bribery. In 

McCallum, there was evidence that McCallum, a litigant in a pending civil trial, encountered one 

of the jurors in a social setting after hours and bought champagne for her and her friends.23 But 

the court of criminal appeals reversed McCallum's bribery conviction because there was no 

evidence that McCallum bought the champagne for the juror "in exchange for or in consideration 

of her vote as ajuror."24 The same is true in this case. The jury could infer that appellant wanted 

Judge Sandoval to lose and that she hoped Wooten would not abandon her campaign against 

him. But there is no evidence that appellant's transfers of money to Spencer or Spencer's 

22 See generally McCallum, 686 S.W.2d at 135-36, 139 (reversing bribery conviction for lack of evidence of "a bilateral agreement"). 

23 [d. at 136-39. 

24 [d. at 139. 
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spending on Wooten's campaign were done in exchange for Wooten's continuance of her 

judicial campaign.25 

Absent evidence that appellant, her husband, or Spencer conferred benefits on Wooten 

with the intent of accomplishing an exchange of benefits for Wooten's decision to stay in the 

race, any finding that appellant, her husband, or Spencer had the proscribed intent is based on 

speculation, not on evidence, and certainly not on proof beyond a reasonable doubt. There is no 

evidence to support appellant's bribery convictions under this theory of the case. 

c. Judicial rulings 

The State's last theory is that appellant bribed Wooten in consideration for Wooten's 

presiding over and issuing favorable rulings in cases in which appellant or her husband was a 

party. Again, the evidence falls short on the essential element of consideration-that appellant 

or someone in league with her conferred a benefit on Wooten as consideration for Wooten's 

decisions or other exercises of discretion in a judicial proceeding. 

The evidence shows that David Cary was a party to a long-running family-law case 

pending in the 380th Judicial District Court, and the jury could infer that he thought Judge 

Sandoval was a bad and unfair judge. The evidence also shows that appellant intervened in her 

husband's case and also filed a separate lawsuit against Israel Suster that was transferred from 

another court to the 380th Judicial District Court in May 2008. And, as previously discussed, the 

evidence supports reasonable inferences that appellant transferred money to Spencer six times 

during the primary campaign and shortly thereafter at Spencer's requests (made either to 

appellant or to her husband), and that Spencer used that money to pay for Wooten's campaign 

25 As the majority notes, there was some evidence that Wooten had a line of credit. Neither side developed this evidence, nor did either side 
develop a detailed description of how much funding was necessary for Wooten to run a financially reasonable judicial campaign. The State 
argues that appellant's funds "were necessary for Wooten to run for and maintain her campaign for the seat of the 380th Judicial District Court," 
but there is absolutely no evidence that this is so. It is entirely possible that Wooten simply would have run a less-expensive campaign if 
appellant's money had not been available. 
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expenses. But the evidence does not permit an inference beyond a reasonable doubt that 

appellant paid the money, or Spencer spent the money with appellant's intentional aid or 

encouragement, as consideration for Wooten's judicial rulings or exercises of discretion in 

appellant's or David Cary's cases. The evidence is equally consistent with the proposition that 

appellant merely hoped or believed that Wooten would make better rulings than Judge Sandoval 

had. Under McCallum, such evidence is not sufficient to prove bribery.26 

The after-the-fact evidence regarding Wooten's handling of the Carys' litigation does not 

aid the State's position. There was evidence that in early 2009 Spencer tried to dissuade 

Benavides from representing David Cary's ex-wife in her ongoing dispute with David Cary, and 

given the pattern of telephone calls around that time, the jury might reasonably infer that Spencer 

did so because he and David Cary did not want Wooten to recuse herself from David Cary's 

case. But this does not show that appellant, individually or through her husband or Spencer, had 

bribed Wooten a year earlier. It shows only that David Cary thought Wooten was preferable to 

other judges who might preside over his case if she recused herself. And Wooten did in fact 

recuse herself without making any rulings in David Cary's case. So Wooten's handling of David 

Cary's case constitutes no evidence that anyone had bribed her. 

As to appellant's December 2007 lawsuit against Suster, there was evidence that in mid-

2008 appellant fought to keep that lawsuit in County Court at Law No. 4 instead of having it 

transferred to the 380th Judicial District Court. There was also evidence that appellant did not 

press for certain discovery in her suit until Wooten had taken the bench in January 2009, that 

Wooten granted partial relief on a discovery motion filed by appellant, and that appellant later 

dismissed her suit. Again, this evidence does not show that appellant committed bribery, either 

personally or through her husband or Spencer. Wooten's granting of only part of the relief 

26 See McCallum. 686 S.W.2d at 134-35. 
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appellant sought does not tend to show that appellant or someone in league with her had 

previously bribed Wooten in exchange for favorable rulings. Nor does Wooten's failure to 

recuse herself in that matter indicate that appellant or someone in league with her had previously 

bribed Wooten.27 

There was other evidence of conduct by appellant's husband and Spencer that put them in 

a bad light. There was evidence that in June 2009, Spencer and David Cary emailed each other 

about the Supreme Court's decision in Caperton v. A.T. Massey Coal Co., Inc.,2s which imposed 

due-process limitations on elected judges' ability to hear cases involving their campaign 

contributors. Notably, Caperton was not a bribery case, and the Court did not question the 

subjective impartiality of the judge involved in that case.29 The jury reasonably could have 

concluded that Spencer and David Cary were interested in the Caperton decision because 

appellant had supplied much of the money used in the Wooten campaign, and Caperton had the 

potential to require Wooten's recusal in future cases on constitutional grounds. But again, this 

does not show that appellant conferred benefits on Wooten in exchange for favorable rulings in 

her cases or David Cary's case. Nor does it show that Spencer or David Cary conferred benefits 

on Wooten in exchange for favorable rulings, with appellant's intentional aid or encouragement. 

Concern over Caperton is as consistent with a mere belief that Wooten would make favorable 

rulings as it is with prior acts of bribery. 

The testimony of Jay Valentine also put Spencer and David Cary in a bad light. 

According to Valentine, David Cary said that he was trying to get Wooten elected, that Wooten 

27 In my view, judicial rulings are rarely persuasive evidence of bribery. The State can always argue that rulings favorable to the person 
accused of bribery demonstrate a quid pro quo, and that rulings against that person are made only to cover the parties' tracks, even if those rulings 
are perfectly reasonable under the law and the facts. The State can argue that rulings that split the difference, like Wooten's ruling on appellant's 
motion, are sinister from both angles. Only a truly outlandish ruling that is utterly divorced from the facts and law of the case might constitute 
some evidence of bribery-and even then, the rul ing might reflect only the judge' s lack of common sense rather than bribery. 

28 556 U.s. 868 (2009). 

29 [d. at 882. 
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was going to change the rulings in David Cary's family-law case, and that Spencer "fixed his 

situation with the judge and was going to get his situation reversed." Valentine also testified that 

Spencer told Valentine that Spencer was able to get Wooten elected and that "he owned her." 

There is no evidence that appellant was present when any of the statements described by 

Valentine were made. 

In summary, I would hold that the evidence in this record is insufficient to prove that 

appellant, Spencer, or David Cary conferred a benefit on Wooten as consideration for favorable 

judicial rulings once Wooten took office. Specifically, there is no evidence that any of the three 

alleged conspirators reached an agreement to an illegal exchange with Wooten. 

Moreover, even assuming there was sufficient evidence that Spencer committed bribery, 

for appellant to be guilty of his act, the State had to prove appellant solicited, encouraged, or 

aided in committing the offense "with intent to promote or assist the commission of the 

offense.mo Although appellant's transfers of money to Spencer may have aided him in 

committing the offense, there is still no evidence that she acted with the intent of promoting or 

assisting the commission of the offense of bribery. There is no evidence that she knew of any 

understanding, express or tacit, between Spencer and Wooten that Wooten would make favorable 

judicial rulings in David Cary's litigation in exchange for the campaign expenditures. For all the 

evidence shows, appellant may have helped finance Wooten's campaign in the mere hope of 

influencing Wooten-or in the mere hope of defeating Judge Sandoval-without knowledge of 

any agreement Spencer may have struck with Wooten and without any intent to promote such an 

illegal agreement. 

30 TEX. PENAL CODE ANN. § 7.02(a)(2). 
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4. Conclusion 

The State did not prove that the exception found in section 36.02( d) did not apply. 

Moreover, the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that appellant committed the 

elements of section 36.02(a)(1) or (a)(2), either individually or under the law of parties. I would 

reverse her bribery convictions and acquit her of those charges. 

OTHER CRIMES 

Appellant's conviction for money laundering stands or falls with her bribery convictions. 

Because I conclude that appellant's bribery convictions are supported by insufficient evidence, I 

would also reverse her conviction for money laundering. 

Appellant's conviction for engaging in organized criminal activity stands on a slightly 

different footing. The State submitted three theories of this crime to the jury. One theory was 

that appellant participated in a combination to commit bribery and another was that appellant 

participated in a combination to commit money laundering in connection with bribery. Both of 

those theories fail because of the insufficiency of the evidence to support the commission of 

bribery at all. The third and final theory of engaging in organized criminal activity was that 

appellant participated in a combination to commit tampering with a governmental record, 

specifically Wooten's preparation and filing of personal financial statements that did not identify 

appellant, David Cary, or Spencer as people who had given Wooten loans or gifts during the 

relevant time period. This theory is unaddressed by the majority because it is unnecessary to the 

majority's disposition of the case. For present purposes, it is enough for me to state my 

conclusion that there is no evidence in the record that appellant intentionally participated in any 

combination for the purpose of having Wooten commit the offense of tampering with a 

government record. 
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I would reverse appellant's convictions for engaging in organized criminal activity and 

money laundering based on insufficiency of the evidence, and I would acquit her of those 

charges. 

EXCLUSION OF EVIDENCE 

I also disagree with the majority's conclusion that appellant failed to preserve her fourth 

issue on appeal. At trial, appellant offered into evidence some findings of fact and conclusions 

of law from a trial judge who presided over David Cary's family-law case after Wooten recused 

herself. The findings were favorable to David Cary and critical of his ex-wife. The trial judge 

excluded the evidence. On appeal, appellant argues that the evidence was relevant and 

admissible to show that David Cary did not need to bribe a trial judge to obtain favorable rulings, 

and thus that he lacked the intent to commit bribery. The majority refuses to consider the merits 

of appellant's argument, concluding that appellant presented a different argument for 

admissibility in the trial court. According to the majority, appellant's only argument for 

admissibility in the trial court was that the findings of fact and conclusions of law showed that 

David Cary's ex-wife was being "stubbornly litigious." 

I would conclude that appellant adequately preserved error in the trial court. She did not 

argue precisely that the findings of fact and conclusions of law were admissible to show that 

David Cary did not need to bribe a judge in order to win his case. But she did argue, albeit not 

very clearly, that the findings of fact and conclusions of law showed that David Cary's position 

was right. The record shows the following argument by appellant's counsel: 

Counsel: Judge, we spent, I don't know, four days proving that David Cary, 
and by way of David Cary, that Stacy Cary must also be 
stubbornly litigious. Well, here's the proof that this stubborn 
litigiousness was on the right side of right. They were doing the 
right thing. This Jennifer Cary character is the one being 
stubbornly litigious. 
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The Court: I think in the end, all that's irrelevant. I think there's been 
evidence that both sides were litigious and was heated. I don't 
think who ultimately prevailed in the end on the custody case 
makes any difference. 

Counsel: Judge, I think it goes to show she was the one bringing the heat, 
not us, and that we're just trying to do the right thing. That's 
why we have courts. 

(Emphases added.) In other words, appellant's counsel argued to the trial judge that the findings 

of fact ana conclusions of law were admissible to show that David Cary was in the right in his 

child-custody litigation against his ex-wife. Appellant has made the argument with greater detail 

on appeal, but there is nothing wrong with that; arguments made in the heat of trial need not 

satisfy standards of appellate eloquence in order to preserve error. 

I would conclude that appellant's fourth issue was sufficiently preserved in the trial court. 

Given that I would reverse all of her convictions, I will refrain from addressing the merits of 

appellant's fourth issue. 

CONCLUSION 

I would reverse all of appellant's convictions. Because the majority does not, I 

respectfully dissent. 
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IN THE COURT OF CRIMINAL APPEALS 
OF TEXAS 

NO. PD-0445-15 

DAVID FREDERICK CARY, Appellant" 

v. 

THE STATE OF TEXAS 

ON STATE'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW 
FROM THE FIFTH COURT OF APPEALS 

COLLIN COUNTY 

HERVEY, J., delivered the opinion of the Court in which KELLER, P.J., 
JOHNSON, KEASLER, ALCALA, RICHARDSON, YEARY, and NEWELL, JJ., joined. 
MEYERS, J., did not participate. 

OPINION 

David Cary was convicted by a jury of six counts of bribery, one count of money 

laundering, and one count of engaging in organized criminal activity . His punishment was 

'In their briefs, the parties identify David Cary as both "Appellee" and "Appellant." An 
"Appellant" is "a party taking an appeal to an appellate court." TEX. R. App. P. 3.1. Thus, a party 
appealing a trial court's judgment is correctly styled as "Appellant." That designation does not 
change, however, even if the appellant prevails at the court of appeals, and the appellee files a 
petition for discretionary review. This is because a party does not "take an appeal" to this Court 
when it files a petition for discretionary review. 

EXHIBIT 
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assessed at fourteen years' confinement on each count to run concurrently with one day 

credit. He appealed the judgments of conviction, and a unanimous panel of the court of 

appeals found that there was insufficient evidence to support his convictions, entering an 

acquittal on each count. David Cary v. State, 460 S.W.3d 731 (Tex. App.-Dallas 2015). 

The issue in this case is whether the court of appeals misapplied the standard for legal 

sufficiency? We conclude that it did not, and we will affirm the judgment of the court of 

appeals. 

COMPANION CASE 

David's wife, Stacy Cary, was also convicted in a companion case on six counts of 

bribery, one count of money laundering, and one count of engaging in organized criminal 

activity. Stacy Cary v. State, No. 05-12-01421-CR, 2014 WL 4261233 (Tex. 

App.-Dallas Aug. 28, 2014) (mem. op.) (not designated for publication). The panel that 

decided her case affirmed her convictions. Id. Today, we reversed the judgment of that 

panel and rendered acquittals on each count because the evidence is insufficient to 

2We granted the State's petition for review on three grounds, 

(I) The lower court erred because a reasonable juror could have found-as 
this jury actually found-that [David] did not intend the relevant payments 
to Spencer to constitute "political contributions," irrespective of how those 
payments were ultimately spent by Wooten. 

(2) The evidence at trial was legally sufficient for a rational juror to find, 
beyond a reasonable doubt, all of the elements of bribery. 

(3) The evidence at trial was legally sufficient to affirm [David]'s convictions 
for engaging in organized criminal activity and for money laundering. 
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support her convictions. Stacy Cary, No. PD-1341-14, slip Ope 15-16 (Tex. Crim. App. 

Dec. 14, 2016). For the same reasons that we discussed in that opinion, we affirm the 

judgment of the court in this case rendering an acquittal on each count.3 

BRIBERY 

Law of Bribery 

The bribery statute states in relevant part that, 

(a) A person commits an offense if he intentionally or knowingly offers, 
confers, or agrees to confer on another, or solicits, accepts, or agrees to 
accept from another: 

(1) any benefit as consideration for the recipient's decision, opinion, 
recommendation, vote, or other exercise of discretion as a public 
servant, party official, or voter; 

(2) any benefit as consideration for the recipient's decision, vote, 
recommendation, or other exercise of official discretion in a judicial 
or administrative proceeding; 

(3) any benefit as consideration for a violation of a duty imposed by 
law on a public servant or party official; or 

(4) any benefit that is a political contribution as defined by Title 15, 
Election Code, or that is an expenditure made and reported in 
accordance with Chapter 305, Government Code, if the benefit was 
offered, conferred, solicited, accepted, or agreed to pursuant to an 
express agreement to take or withhold a specific exercise of official 
discretion if such exercise of official discretion would not have been 
taken or withheld but for the benefit; notwithstanding any rule of 

3Due to the voluminous amount of evidence in these cases, and the fact that the parties 
agree that the records in both cases are "nearly identical," like the court of appeals, we will not 
restate all of the facts and instead focus on only the facts necessary to decide this appeal. David 
Cary, 460 S.W.3d at 733 n.1. The panel of the Dallas Court of Appeals that disposed of Stacy's 
appeal recited the facts at length. Stacy Cary, 2014 WL 4261233, at *3-26. 



evidence or jury instruction allowing factual inferences in the 
absence of certain evidence, direct evidence of the express 
agreement shall be required in any prosecution under this 
subdivision. 
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(d) It is an exception to the application of Subdivisions (1), (2), and (3) of 
Subsection (a) that the benefit is a political contribution as defined by Title 
15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with 
Chapter 305, Government Code. 

(e) An offense under this section is a felony of the second degree. 

TEX. PENAL CODE § 36.02 (footnote omitted). Relevant definitions from Title 15 of the 

Texas Election Code include, 

(2) "Contribution" means a direct or indirect transfer of money, goods, 
services, or any other thing of value and includes an agreement made or 
other obligation incurred, whether legally enforceable or not, to make a 
transfer. The term includes a loan or extension of credit, other than those 
expressly excluded by this subdivision, and a guarantee of a loan or 
extension of credit, including a loan described by this subdivision. The term 
does not include: 

r 

(A) a loan made in the due course of business by a corporation that is 
legally engaged in the business of lending money and that has conducted 
the business continuously for more than one year before the loan is 
made; or 

(B) an expenditure required to be reported under Section 305.006(b), 
Government Code. 

(3) "Campaign contribution" means a contribution to a candidate or 
political committee that is offered or given with the intent that it be used in 
connection with a campaign for elective office or on a measure. Whether a 
contribution is made before, during, or after an election does not affect its 
status as a campaign contribution. 
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(4) "Officeholder contribution" means a contribution to an officeholder or 
political committee that is offered or given with the intent that it be used to 
defray expenses that: 

(A) are incurred by the officeholder in performing a duty or engaging in 
an activity in connection with the office; and 

(B) are not reimbursable with public money. 

(5) "Political contribution" means a campaign contribution or an 
officeholder contribution. 

(6) "Expenditure" means a payment of money or any other thing of value 
and includes an agreement made or other obligation incurred, whether 
legally enforceable or not, to make a payment. 

(7) "Campaign expenditure" means an expenditure made by any person in 
connection with a campaign for an elective office or on a measure. Whether 
an expenditure is made before, during, or after an election does not affect its 
status as a campaign expenditure 

TEX. ELEC. CODE § 251.00 I (2)-(7). 

Court of Appeals 

The court of appeals held that the evidence is insufficient to support David's 

bribery convictions because the State failed to prove that the benefits offered to Wooten 

were something other than political contributions. David Cary, 460 S.W.3d at 738; see 

TEX. PENAL CODE §§ 2.02(b) (statutory exceptions must be negated by the State beyond a 

reasonable doubt), 36.02(a)(l)-(2), (d) (bribery and political-contribution exception). In 

doing so, the court rejected the State's argument that a jury could have inferred that the 

contributions were not political ones because David intended to "bribe" Wooten and 

"engaged in several deceptive practices to prevent the funds from being traced to him." 
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David Cary, 460 S.W.3d at 737. It explained that a "political contribution" is a 

contribution given with the intent that it be used in a campaign for elected office and that, 

in this case, the evidence showed just that-David offered Wooten benefits through 

Spencer to fund Wooten's campaign to unseat Sandoval. Id.; see TEX. ELEC. CODE 

§ 251.001 (5). It also pointed out that, if the State fails to negate the political-contribution 

exception, David's intent to "bribe" and his deceptive acts to hide the source of the 

money are irrelevant. David Cary, 460 S.W.3d at 737. 

State's Arguments 

The State first argues that the court of appeals erred in its legal-sufficiency 

analysis. It also contends that the lower court mistakenly focused on the ultimate use of 

Stacy's money in Wooten's campaign instead of looking to the subjective intent at the 

time the contribution was made, as required by the Election Code. According to the State, 

this latter analytical error was the "fundamental misconception upon which the lower 

court foundered." State's Brief on the Merits at 26. Finally, the State asserts that the court 

of appeals failed to properly apply the standard for legal sufficiency because it did not 

view the evidence in the light most favorable to David's convictions. Instead, the State 

contends that the court's analysis was more akin to a factual-sufficiency review and that it 

harkened back to our discarded pre-Geesa standard, requiring the State to negate every 

reasonable hypothesis other than that establishing the guilt of the accused. Brooks v. 

State, 323 S.W.3d 893 (Tex. Crim. App. 2010) (plurality op.); Geesa v. State, 820 S.W.2d 
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154, 157 (Tex. Crim. App. 1991) (abrogating the alternative-reasonable-hypothesis 

construct). 

Legal Sufficiency 

When determining whether the evidence is sufficient to support a criminal 

conviction, the only standard an appellate court should apply is the Jackson v. Virginia 

test for legal sufficiency. Brooks, 323 S.W.3d at 895 (plurality op.). Under that standard, 

the State must prove each essential element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. 

TEX. PENAL CODE §§ 1.07(22) (elements of an offense include negating any statutory 

exception to that offense). This requirement, however, does not obligate the State to 

disprove every innocent explanation of the evidence before a jury can find a defendant 

guilty. See Tate v. State, No. PD-0730-15, 2016 WL 5113495, at *6 (Tex. Crim. App. 

Sept. 21, 2016). "[T]he relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the 

light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the 

essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." Jackson, 443 U.S. 307, 319 

(1979). In this analysis, the arguments of the parties are of no consequence because 

arguments are not evidence. Hutch v. State, 922 S.W.2d 166, 173 (Tex. Crim. App. 1996) 

(plurality op.) ("It is axiomatic that jury arguments are not evidence"). To the extent that a 

reviewing court relies on such in a legal-sufficiency analysis, it does so in error. 

The evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the verdict because it is "the 

responsibility of the trier of fact fairly to resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the 
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evidence, aJ.1d to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts." Jackson, 

443 U.S. at 319. This standard "impinges upon 'jury' discretion only to the extent 

necessary to guarantee the fundamental protection of due process of law," and it prevents 

the reviewing court from making its own subjective determination of the defendant's 

guilt. Id. Although an appellate court cannot act as a thirteenth juror and make its own 

assessment of the evidence, it does act as a safeguard to ensure that the factfinder's 

verdict is a rational one that is based on more than a "mere modicum" of evidence. 

Moreno v. State, 755 S.W.2d 866, 867 (Tex. Crim. App. 1988). Theorizing or guessing as 

to the meaning of the evidence is never adequate to uphold a conviction because it is 

insufficiently based on the evidence to support a belief beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Hooper v. State, 214 S.W.3d 9, 15-16 (Tex. Crim. App. 2007). But the factfinder is 

allowed to draw any reasonable inference that is supported by the evidence. Jackson, 443 

U.S. at 319. If the record supports reasonable, but conflicting, inferences, we presume 

that the factfinder resolved the conflicts in favor of the conviction. Id. at 326. 

Analysis 

According to the court of appeals, "the State's evidence proved that the only 

benefits to Wooten were the transfers from Stacy Cary to Spencer, which the State argued 

were payments made to fund her campaign." David Cary, 460 S.W.3d at 738. This seems 

to suggest that the court did in fact rely on the State's trial arguments and the ultimate use 

of the $150,000, instead of focusing on the evidence actually adduced at trial and David's 
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intent at the time the contribution was made. Id. To the extent that the court of appeals 

relied on the arguments of the parties and how Stacy's money was actually used in 

Wooten's campaign, we disavow its analysis. 

The State alleged that David intentionally offered Wooten a benefit other than a 

political contribution as consideration for Wooten's decisions to enter the race against 

Sandoval, to continue her campaign, and to issue rulings favorable to the Carys once 

elected. TEX. PENAL CODE § 36.02. To negate the political-contribution exception, the 

State had to show that David had no intent for Stacy's money to be used in Wooten's 

campaign. According to the State, it met that burden because a rational jury could have 

reasonably inferred that David intended for the payments to Spencer to "be used to obtain, 

by any means necessary, (1) a person who would challenge the incumbent judge of the 

380th Judicial District Court, despite the odds stacked against succeeding in such a 

challenge, and/or (2) a judge who would rule favorably in [David]'s custody and 

visitation proceedings, and/or rule in favor of his spouse Stacy." The problem with this 

argument, however, is that the State charged David with bribing Wooten specifically, and 

the jury was instructed that it could convict David only if it believed beyond a reasonable 

doubt that he intentionally offered money to Wooten as consideration for her exercise of 

official discretion as a public servant. Id. Thus, even if a jury believed the theory set out 

by the State above, the State has not proven its case. 

Although the State is required to disprove exceptions to an offense beyond a 
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reasonable doubt, and the allegations made here required the State to negate the political-

contribution exception, that does not amount to forcing the State to disprove every 

possible innocent explanation of the evidence. The State also contends that the record 

supports conflicting inferences as to whether the money offered to Wooten was a political 

contribution and that, because appellate courts resolve conflicting inferences in favor of 

the conviction, the lower court erred when it substituted its judgment for that of the jury. 

It is true that appellate courts resolve conflicting inferences in favor of the conviction, but 

we conclude as the court of appeals did that the record in this case does not support 

conflicting inferences. While a rational jury could have inferred that David offered money 

to Wooten as consideration for her decisions to enter the race, to continue her campaign, 

and to render rulings favorable to the Carys, no rational jury could have also believed that 

David bribed Wooten to get elected to give the Carys favorable treatment, but that he had 

no intention that Stacy's $150,000 would be used in Wooten's campaign. To accomplish 

his goals, Wooten would have to be elected. 

We hold that the evidence is insufficient to prove that David committed bribery as 

charged because the State failed to negate the political-contribution exception. 

OTHER COUNTS 

David was also convicted of one count of money laundering and one count of 

engaging in organized criminal activity. The court of appeals reversed both of those 

convictions for insufficient evidence. David Cary, 460 S.W.3d at 739, 741. In a single 
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sentence, the State argues that, "if this Court reverses the lower court's determination that 

the evidence was legally sufficient to support [David]'s bribery conviction[s], then the 

Court should necessarily reverse the lower court on that basis, too." State's Brief on the 

Merits at 46. 

Money Laundering 

The State alleged that David knowingly financed, invested, or intended to finance 

and invest funds that he believed were intended to further the commission of criminal 

activity. TEX. PENAL CODE § 34.02(a)(4), (t). The only predicate offense charged was 

bribery. Yet, because we have already found that the evidence is insufficient to sustain 

David's bribery convictions, there cannot be sufficient evidence to support the money­

laundering conviction. 

Engaging in Organized Criminal Activity 

The State further alleged that David engaged in organized criminal activity when 

he, in combination with Wooten, Stacy, and Spencer, conspired to commit and did 

commit the offenses of bribery, money laundering, or tampering with a government 

document. Because the evidence is insufficient to support David's convictions for bribery 

and money laundering, his conviction for engaging in organized criminal activity can be 

upheld only if he conspired to tamper with a governmental document. The State, 

however, does not challenge the court of appeals's holding on that basis, so we do not 
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address it now.4 Id. at 740-41 (reversing conviction for lack of evidence to support any 

predicate offense). 

CONCLUSION 

Because we find that the State's challenges to the holdings of the court of appeals 

are without merit, we affirm the judgment of the court of appeals. 

Delivered: December 14, 2016 

Publish 

4We did, however, address the issue in Stacy's appeal and concluded that there was 
insufficient evidence to prove that she conspired to tamper with a government document. Stacy 
Cary, slip op. at 17-18. 
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OPINION 

Appellant, Stacy Stine Cary, was convicted by a jury of six counts of bribery, one 

count of money laundering, and one count of engaging in organized criminal activity. Her 

sentence was probated, but she was ordered to serve 30 days' confinement as a condition 

of her probation. A split panel of the Dallas Court of Appea ls affirmed her convictions. 

Cary v. State, No. 05-12-01421-CR, 2014 WL 4261233 (Tex . App.- Dallas Aug. 28 , 

EXHIBIT 

G 



Stacy Caryr2 

2014) (not designated for publication). In four grounds, she alleges that the evidence was 

legally insufficient to support her convictions, and in a fifth ground she argues that the 

trial court reversibly erred when it excluded certain evidence. I Because we sustain her 

first and fourth grounds, we will reverse and render an acquittal on each count and need 

not reach the other three grounds for review. 

BACKGROUND2 

This case involves a number of actors: David Cary (David), Jennifer Cary 

(Jennifer), Stacy Stine Cary (Stacy), Judge Charles Sandoval (Sandoval), James Spencer 

(Spencer), and Suzanne Wooten (Wooten). David was married to Jennifer, and they had 

two children. In 2003, David filed for divorce. Judge Sandoval of the 380th District Court 

IThe grounds upon which we granted review state, 

(I) Whether the State's case affirmatively proved that the alleged bribes were 
"political contributions," which would mean that Appellant was not guilty of 
bribery as charged? 

(2) Whether the evidence was sufficient to show the requisite consideration to 
support the bribery convictions? 

(3) Whether the evidence was sufficient to show that Appellant had the requisite 
intent to commit bribery? 

(4) Whether the evidence was sufficient to support [Appellant]' s conviction for 
engaging in organized criminal activity and money laundering? 

(5) Whether the trial court committed reversible error by excluding evidence, for 
which error was properly preserved, that showed there was no need to bribe a 
judge to obtain favorable rulings? 

2We discuss only the facts relevant to the disposition of this appeal. However, the court of 
appeals discussed the facts of the case at length. Cary, 2014 WL 4261233, at * 1-26. 
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of Collin County presided over that litigation. After the final divorce decree was signed in 

2004, protracted child custody litigation ensued. Sandoval also presided over those 

proceedings. In early December 2006, David married Stacy, and later that month, 

Sandoval removed David as joint managing conservator of his children with Jennifer. 

At some point in 2007, David and Stacy sought to change the law through the 

legislature to remedy David's family law woes and to help other parents. In trying to 

accomplish that goal, David and Stacy (the Carys)3 were introduced to Spencer. Like the 

Carys, Spencer had an interest in family law, and when the three met in person for the 

first time, Stacy allegedly hired Spencer to perform consulting work for her. Between 

January 4, 2008 and March 14, 2008, Stacy transferred $150,000 to Spencer. During the 

time period in which Stacy was transferring money to Spencer, Spencer recruited Wooten 

to run against Sandoval. The State asserts that the consulting agreement between Stacy 

and Spencer was a sham and that the $150,000 was really a bribe, or an offer of a bribe, 

from Stacy to Wooten (made indirectly through Spencer) to induce Wooten to run against 

Sandoval so she could issue rulings favorable to the Carys once elected. 

Stacy was convicted on all counts, and she appealed. After losing her appeal, she 

filed a petition for discretionary review, which we granted. 

LA W OF BRIBERY 

Stacy was charged with bribery under Section 36.02(a)( 1) and (a)(2) of the Penal 

3Throughout the opinion, "the Carys," refers to David and Stacy. We identify Jennifer 
Cary by only her first name. 
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Code. A person charged under those provisions is not guilty of bribery if the benefit 

offered was a political contribution. TEX. PENAL CODE § 36.02(d). Before this Court, 

Stacy now claims that the political-contribution exception applies to her because the 

evidence shows that the money she offered was intended to be used in connection with a 

campaign for public office. The bribery statute states in relevant part that, 

(a) A person commits an offense if he intentionally or knowingly offers, 
confers, or agrees to confer on another, or solicits, accepts, or agrees to 
accept from another: 

(1) any benefit as consideration for the recipient's decision, opinion, 
recommendation, vote, or other exercise of discretion as a public 
servant, party official, or voter; 

(2) any benefit as consideration for the recipient's decision, vote, 
recommendation, or other exercise of official discretion in a judicial 
or administrative proceeding; 

(3) any benefit as consideration for a violation of a duty imposed by 
law on a public servant or party official; or 

(4) any benefit that is a political contribution as defined by Title 15, 
Election Code, or that is an expenditure made and reported in 
accordance with Chapter 305, Government Code, if the benefit was 
offered, conferred, solicited, accepted, or agreed to pursuant to an 
express agreement to take or withhold a specific exercise of official 
discretion if such exercise of official discretion would not have been 
taken or withheld but for the benefit; notwithstanding any rule of 
evidence or jury instruction allowing factual inferences in the 
absence of certain evidence, direct evidence of the express 
agreement shall be required in any prosecution under this 
subdivision. 

(b) It is no defense to prosecution under this section that a person whom the 
actor sought to influence was not qualified to act in the desired way whether 
because he had not yet assumed office or he lacked jurisdiction or for any 
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other reason. 

* * * 

(d) It is an exception to the application of Subdivisions (1), (2), and (3) of 
Subsection (a) that the benefit is a political contribution as defined by Title 
15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with 
Chapter 305, Government Code. 

(e) An offense under this section is a felony of the second degree. 

Id. § 36.02 (internal footnote omitted). 

COGNIZABILITY 

Before we can reach the merits of Stacy's argument, however, we must determine 

whether the issue is properly before us. For the reasons that follow, we conclude that it is. 

Unassigned Error 

Stacy did not argue in the court of appeals that her bribery convictions should be 

reversed because the State failed to negate the political-contribution exception. Writing in 

dissent, Justice Fitzgerald asserted that the majority should nonetheless address the issue 

in the interest of justice. Cary, 2014 WL 4261233, at *41 (Fitzgerald, J., dissenting). The 

majority disagreed, but it nonetheless responded to the merits of Fitzgerald's reasoning 

and rejected it. Id. at *34 (majority opinion). 

In her petition for discretionary review and brief on the merits, Stacy argues that 

the "political contribution" issue is properly before us. She concedes that she did not raise 

it at the court of appeals, but according to her, in addressing the merits of the issue, the 

court of appeals effectively exercised its power to reach the unassigned error. The State 
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did not file a response to Stacy's petition for discretionary review, and it does not 

reference unassigned error in its brief on the merits. 

We agree with Stacy that the court of appeals reached the unassigned error when it 

analyzed the "political contribution" exception. Thus, the issue is properly before us. 

Sanchez v. State, 209 S.W.3d 117, 120-21 (Tex. Crim. App. 2006). 

Invited Error 

Next, the State argues that Stacy should be estopped under the invited-error 

doctrine from arguing on appeal that the wire transfers were political contributions 

because her trial theory was that the wire transfers were compensation for consulting 

work. For support, it cites our opinion in Prystash v. State, 3 S.W.3d 522, 531 (Tex. 

Crim. App. 1999). 

In Prystash, we explained that "the law of invited error estops a party from making 

an appellate error of an action it induced." Id. Here, however, no action was induced by 

Stacy. Thus, the doctrine is inapplicable. And, at any rate, in a sufficiency analysis, the 

only issue is whether a rational jury could have found each essential element of the 

offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 318-19 (1979). 

The arguments of the parties and their trial theories are not evidence, and as a result, they 

are of no consequence in a sufficiency analysis. Ex parte Bryant, 448 S.W.3d 29, 41 n.15 

(Tex. Crim. App. 2014) (arguments are not evidence); see also Ramsey v. State, 473 

S. W .3d 805, 808 (Tex. Crim. App. 2015) (in conducting a legal-sufficiency analysis, the 
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POLITICAL-CONTRIBUTION EXCEPTION 
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Stacy argues that Section 36.02(d) of the Texas Penal Code excludes by its plain 

language all political contributions from the offense of bribery as charged in this case, 

including those that exceed the maximum allowable amount under the law. Justice 

Fitzgerald, who dissented, agrees with Stacy. Cary, 2014 WL 4261233, at *43 

(Fitzgerald, J., dissenting). The majority of the court of appeals, however, concluded that 

the statutory definition of "political contribution" is limited to legal political 

contributions4 (i.e., those that do not exceed the maximum amount in a judicial race), 

although it did not explain its reasoning.5 Cary, 2014 WL 4261233, at *34 (majority 

opinion) ("[AJ rational jury could have reasonably found that Stacy's payments were not 

political contributions as defined by the statute."). The State does not address this 

particular argument, but it is relevant to the disposition of this appeal, so we address it 

now. 

4During the relevant time period, the maximum contribution by an individual in a judicial 
campaign in Collin County was $2,500. TEX. ELEC. CODE § 253.1 55(b). 

5The court of appeals treated the phrase "political contribution" in two contradictory 
ways. In its discussion of the jury charge, the court explained that the defmition used by the trial 
court was proper because it "essentially tracks the language of the applicable statute." Cary, 2014 
WL 4261233, at *34 (citing TEX. ELEC. CODE § 251.001). However, when discussing in the very 
next paragraph why the jury could have found that the wire transfers were not political 
contributions, the court applied a much more narrow definition, grafting on extra requirements 
beyond the statutory definition. 
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Applicable Law 

Statutory construction is a question of law, which we review de novo. Harris v. 

State, 359 S.W.3d 625, 629 (Tex. Crim. App. 2011). In analyzing the language ofa 

statute, we "seek to effectuate the 'collective' intent or purpose of the legislators who 

enacted the legislation." Id. (quoting Boykin v. State, 818 S.W.2d 782, 785 (Tex. Crim. 

App. 1991 ». To do so, we first look to the text of the statute and read words and phrases 

contained therein in context and construe them according to normal rules of grammar and 

usage.ld. (citing Lopez v. State, 253 S.W.3d 680, 685 (Tex. Crim. App. 2008». We also 

"presume that every word in a statute has been used for a purpose and that each word, 

phrase, clause, and sentence should be given effect if reasonably possible." Id. (quoting 

State v. Hardy, 963 S.W.2d 516, 520 (Tex. Crim. App. 1997». If the language of the 

statute is ,plain, we will effectuate that plain language without resort to extra-textual 

sources. However, if an interpretation of the language would lead to absurd results or the 

language is ambiguous, then we may review extra-textual resources to discern the 

collective intent of the legislators that voted to pass the bill. Id. (citing Boykin, 818 

S.W.2d at 785). 

Analysis 

Stacy was charged with bribery under Section 36.02(a)( 1) and (a)(2) of the Penal 

Code. Under those provisions, an actor has not committed bribery if the offered benefit 

(i.e., money) is a political contribution as defined by Title 15 of the Election Code. TEX. 
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PENAL CODE Id. § 36.02(d). The relevant statutory provision provides that, 

It is an exception to the application of Subdivisions (1), (2), and (3) of 
Subsection (a) that the benefit is a political contribution as defined by Title 
15, Election Code, or an expenditure made and reported in accordance with 
Chapter 305, Government Code. 

Id. The pertinent question here is what is meant by the phrase, "as defined by Title 15, the 

Election Code." We conclude that the language is plain, that it refers specifically to 

Section 251.001 of the Texas Election Code defining "political contribution," and that the 

court of appeals erred when it concluded otherwise. 

Title 15 is divided into chapters which are in tum divided into statutory sections. 

The first chapter is titled, "General Provisions." Of the nine sections in that chapter, eight 

reference Title 15 in general, including the definitions section. That provision defines 

twenty terms used "in this title," and it specifically defines "political contribution." TEX. 

ELEC. CODE § 251.001. There is no other statutory provision within Title 15 that defines 

"political contribution." 

The court of appeals seemed to believe that the definition of "political 

contribution" was modified sub silentio by Section 253.155 of the Election Code, which 

sets out contribution limits in a judicial campaign. Id. § 253.155; Cary, 2014 WL 

4261233, at *34. We disagree. The statutory section relied on by the court of appeals 

deals with restrictions on contributions and expenditures; it does not, however, purport to 

change the definition of a political contribution. And, unlike the general-provisions 

chapter, there is no indication that Chapter 253 applies to all of Title 15. By its own 
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language, the provision categorizes political contributions only into those that are lawful 

for a candidate or officeholder to accept and those that are not. Id. 

After examining the relevant statutes, we believe the better interpretation of 

Section 36.02( d) is that, in referring to a "political contribution" "as defined by Title 15, 

Election Code," the statute refers only to the definition of "political contribution" in 

Section 251.001 of Title 15 of the Election Code. Based on this, we also conclude that the 

political-contribution exception in Section 36.02(d) excludes all political contributions 

without regard to whether they are within the allowable legal limits. With this 

background, we now tum to the question of whether the State met its burden to negate the 

political-contribution exception beyond a reasonable doubt. 

MERITS OF POLITICAL-CONTRIBUTION 
EXCEPTION 

Applicable Law 

Sufficiency of the Evidence 

The State must prove each essential element of an offense beyond a reasonable 

doubt. Jackson, 443 U.S. at 318-19. But it need not exclude every conceivable alternative 

to a defendant's guilt. Ramsey, 473 S.W.3d at 811. When reviewing the sufficiency of the 

evidence, we consider all of the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict to 

determine whether, based on that evidence and the reasonable inferences therefrom, a jury 

was rationally justified in finding guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Jackson, 443 U.S. at 

318-19. 
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Viewing the evidence "in the light most favorable to the verdict" means that the 

reviewing court must defer to the credibility and weight determinations of the jury 

because the jury is the sole judge of the witnesses' credibility and the weight to be given 

to their testimony. Jackson, 443 U.S. at 319. But notwithstanding a court's deference to 

the jury's credibility and weight determinations, the jury's finding of guilt must be a 

rational one in light of all of the evidence presented at trial. Moffv. State, 131 S.W.3d 

485, 489 (Tex. Crim. App. 2004). Juries are allowed to draw any reasonable inference 

from the facts so long as each inference is supported by the evidence presented at trial. 

Jackson, 443 U.S. at 319; see Hooper v. State, 214 S.W.3d 9, 16-17 (Tex. Crim. App. 

2007). Speculation about the meaning of the facts or evidence, however, is never 

sufficient to uphold a conviction. Hooper, 214 S.W.3d at 16. When the record supports 

conflicting, reasonable inferences, we presume that the jury resolved the conflicts in favor 

of the verdict, and we defer to that determination. Jackson, 443 U.S. at 326. 

The Law of Parties 

Parties to an offense may be charged with commission of a crime as if they 

committed it themselves. TEX. PENAL CODE § 7.01 (a) & (b). To prove party liability, the 

State must show that the offense was committed and that the accused acted "with intent to 

promote or assist commission of the offense" by soliciting, encouraging, directing, aiding, 

or attempting to aid the primary actor. Id. § 7.02(a)(2); Beier v. State, 687 S.W.2d 2, 3 

(Tex. Crim. App. 1985). Without evidence of intentional participation by the accused, an 
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accused may not be convicted under the law of parties. Acy v. State, 618 S.W.2d 362 

(Tex. Crim. App. 1981). The necessary specific intent can be proven through 

circumstantial evidence, and we may rely on events that took place before, during, or after 

the commission of the offense. Wygal V. State, 555 S.W.2d 465 (Tex. Crim. App. 1977). 

Bribery 

In the bribery statute, "benefit" is defined as anything reasonably regarded as 

pecuniary gain or pecuniary advantage. TEX. PENAL CODE § 36.01(3). As we have 

discussed, a notable exception to the definition of "benefit" under sections 36.02(a)( 1) 

and (a)(2)-the subdivisions under which Stacy was charged-are political contributions. 

Id. § 36.02(d). As an exception to the offense, the State must prove beyond a reasonable 

doubt that any benefits that Stacy offered to Wooten were not political contributions. Id. 

§ 2.02. A "contribution" is a direct or indirect transfer of money, goods, or services, or 

anything of value,6 and a contribution is a political one if it can be characterized as a 

campaign or officeholder contribution. TEX. ELEC. CODE § 251.001 (5). A "campaign 

contribution" is one that is given or offered "with the intent that it be used in connection 

with a campaign for elective office or on a measure." Id. § 251.001(3). 

Analysis 

The State charged Stacy with intentionally and knowingly offering, conferring, or 

agreeing to confer a benefit, other than a political contribution as defined by Title 15 of 

6TEX. ELEC. CODE § 251.001 (2). 
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the Election Code, as consideration for Wooten filing paperwork to become a candidate, 

for continuing her campaign to unseat Sandoval, and for rulings favorable to the Carys 

once elected. Those allegations are based on six transfers of money totaling $150,000 

between January 4,2008 and March 14, 2008. 

Because of how the State charged this case,7 its burden of proof became a 

balancing act. If Stacy gave the money to Spencer with the intent of compensating him for 

consulting services or only in the hope that he would get someone to run against 

Sandoval, the State has not met its burden of proof because Stacy did not offer to confer a 

benefit on Wooten. Similarly, if Stacy offered money to Wooten to finance her campaign 

in exchange for Wooten entering the race, for continuing the race, and for favorable 

rulings once elected, Stacy has not committed a crime as charged because the money she 

offered constituted political contributions. TEX. PENAL CODE § 36.02( d); TEX. ELEC. 

7Unlike Section 36.02(a)(I) and (a)(2), under which Stacy was charged, Section 
36.02(a)(4) of the Penal Code defines a bribery offense that prohibits the giving of political 
contributions under certain circumstances. TEX. PENAL CODE § 36.02(a)(4). That provision states 
that a person commits bribery if he intentionally or knowingly offers, confers, or agrees to confer 
on another 

any benefit that is a political contribution as defined by Title 15, Election 
Code ... if the benefit was offered, conferred, solicited, accepted, or agreed to 
pursuant to an express agreement to take or withhold a specific exercise of official 
discretion if such exercise of official discretion would not have been taken or 
withheld but for the benefit; notwithstanding any rule of evidence or jury 
instruction allowing factual inferences in the absence of certain evidence, direct 
evidence of the express agreement shall be required in any prosecution under this 
subdivision. 

TEX. PENAL CODE § 36.02(a)(4) (footnote omitted). 
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CODE § 251.001 (3), (5). As the State aptly put it, the only way it could meet its burden of 

proof was to show that (1) Stacy gave the money to Spencer with the aim of "bribing" 

Wooten to enter the race, to continue her campaign, and to issue favorable rulings once 

elected, but that (2) Stacy had no intent for her money to be used in Wooten's campaign.s 

The State's theory of the case was that David and Stacy wanted Sandoval unseated 

because he unfairly ruled against the Carys. The State alleged that Stacy planned to unseat 

Sandoval by bribing the person recruited by Spencer-Wooten-to run against Sandoval. 

The allegations that Stacy improperly induced Wooten to enter the race and to continue 

campaigning were only steps along the path to Stacy's ultimate objective-favorable 

rulings. To get those favorable rulings, Wooten had to get elected. 

The court of appeals, addressing the State's continuing and favorable-rulings 

theories,9 exhaustively reviewed the evidence and concluded that a rational jury could 

have reasonably inferred that Stacy indirectly offered the $150,000 to Wooten to bribe her 

to run against Sandoval and give the Carys favorable rulings. Cary, 2014 WL 4261233, at 

SThe State argues that, when the evidence is "properly analyzed under the Jackson 
standard, and direct and circumstantial evidence against the jury's verdict is ignored, a rational 
juror could have reasonably found that [Stacy]'s payments were not political contributions." 
State's Brief on the Merits at 36 (emphasis in original). That is a misstatement of law. In a legal­
sufficiency analysis, no evidence is "ignored" because the standard requires a reviewing court to 
view all of the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict. Jackson, 443 U.S. at 318-19; 
MojJ, 131 S.W.3d at 489. In this case, that distinction is of particular importance. 

9The court of appeals did not address the State's theory that Stacy bribed Wooten by 
inducing her to become a candidate because it found the evidence sufficient on the State's other 
two theories-the "continuing to campaign" theory and the "favorable rulings" theory. Cary, 
2014 WL 4261233, at *28. 
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*29-34; see TEX. ELEC. CODE § 251.00 I ("contribution" includes indirect transfers of 

money). We agree with the court of appeals that a rational jury could have so inferred. 

However, the majority went on to erroneously conclude that "a rational jury could have 

reasonably found that Stacy's payments were not political contributions as defined by 

statute." Id. at *34. This mistake led the court into error. 

When the correct definition of "political contribution" is used to examine the 

sufficiency of the evidence,lo no rational jury could have reasonably believed that Stacy 

sought to get Wooten elected so the Carys could get favorable treatment, but that Stacy 

had no intention that her money would be used to elect Wooten. In other words, the only 

benefits conferred to Wooten were transfers of funds from Stacy to Spencer to fund 

Wooten's campaign. As charged in this case, it is insufficient to show that a person 

intentionally and knowingly offered a benefit as consideration for the recipient's exercise 

of official discretion. Compare TEX. PENAL CODE § 36.02(a)( I )-(a)(2), with id. 

§ 36.02(a)(4). The statute requires more. Irrespective of a person's intent to "bribe" 

I~he State asserts that the contributions made by Stacy are not, as a matter of law, 
political contributions. It also argues that a legal-sufficiency review does not extend to a jury's 
determination of specific intent. We agree with the State that Stacy's payments were not political 
contributions as a matter of law because, to determine whether someone made a political 
contribution, the subjective intent of the contributor must be ascertained. TEX. ELEC. CODE 
§ 251.001(3), (5). But we disagree with the State to the extent it argues that only a jury can 
determine whether a defendant had the necessary intent to commit a crime. Delay v. State, 465 
S.W.3d 232,247-53 (Tex. Crim. App. 2014) (defendant found guilty by a jury but convictions 
reversed due to insufficient evidence, including insufficient evidence of mens rea). The issue of 
specific intent is not insulated from legal-sufficiency review simply because the defendant had a 
jury trial instead of a bench trial. 
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someone, the legislature has decided that, if the benefit offered to the recipient is a 

political contribution, the actor has not committed bribery as charged in this case. 

"[S]ometimes appellate review of legal sufficiency involves simply construing the reach 

of the applicable penal provision in order to decide whether the evidence, even when 

viewed in the light most favorable to conviction, actually establishes a violation of the 

law." Delay, 465 S.W.3d at 235. We hold that there is insufficient evidence to sustain 

Stacy's convictions for bribery under any theory alleged by the State, and we sustain her 

first ground for review. 11 

OTHER COUNTS 

In her fourth ground for review Stacy argues that the evidence is insufficient to 

support her convictions for money laundering and engaging in organized criminal 

activity. We agree and will sustain her fourth ground for review. 

Money Laundering 

The State alleged that Stacy, pursuant to one scheme and continuing course of 

conduct, knowingly financed, invested, or intended to finance and invest funds that she 

believed were intended to further the commission of bribery. TEX. PENAL CODE § 34.02. 

11In addition to briefing from the parties, we have received an amicus curiae brief from 
the Pillar of Law Institute (Institute). While it does not take a position on Stacy's guilt or 
innocence, it argues that protected political speech is a fundamental right that must be jealously 
guarded. According to it, in resolving this appeal, we should address First Amendment issues 
raised at trial and send a message that state actors have a duty to respect free speech rights. In 
light of our disposition of this appeal based on legal-sufficiency grounds, we need not address the 
arguments of the Institute relating to the First Amendment. 



Stacy Cary-I7 

Bribery was the only predicate offense alleged to support the money-laundering count. 

And, because the State cannot prove the only predicate offense it alleged, the evidence is 

likewise insufficient to support Stacy's conviction for money laundering. 

Engaging in Organized Criminal Activity 

A person engages in organized criminal activity if, with the intent to establish, 

maintain, or participate in a combination or in the profits of a combination, the person 

commits or conspires to commit certain predicate offenses. TEX. PENAL CODE § 7I.02(a). 

The predicate offenses alleged in this case were bribery, money laundering, and 

tampering with a government document. In light of our holdings that there is insufficient 

evidence to support Stacy's convictions for bribery and money laundering, the State could 

prove Stacy's guilt only by showing that she tampered with a government document. 

Without proof of the predicate offense, there can be no conviction. 

The State alleged that Wooten tampered with her 2008 personal financial 

statement (PFS)-a governmental record-when she filed it with the Texas Ethics 

Commission, swearing and affirming that it was correct, although she knew that it was 

not. [d. § 37.10(a)(5). According to the State, Stacy is guilty because she participated in a 

combination with Wooten and at least one other person (David or Spencer) to tamper with 

Wooten's PFS by omitting loans and gifts Wooten personally received from David, Stacy, 

and Spencer. [d. § 71.02(a). After examining the record, we conclude that there is 

insufficient evidence to sustain Stacy's conviction for engaging in organized criminal 
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activity. 

A PFS is a verified statement that gives an accounting of the financial activity of 

an individual and the individual's spouse and dependent children during a certain time 

period. TEX. GOV'T CODE § 572.023(a). Candidates and officeholders must file a PFS. Id. 

§ 572.021. Among other requirements, a filer must disclose any personal loans in excess 

of $1 ,000 and personal gifts over $250 received by the filer, his spouse, or his dependant 

children. Id. § 572.023(a)(5), (7). The relevant question then is whether there is evidence 

that Stacy, David, or Spencer gave Wooten money in her individual capacity. We 

conclude that there is none. 

The evidence shows that Spencer paid Wooten's campaign expenses with money 

he received from Stacy. Spencer would then invoice the Wooten campaign. He did this 

knowing that Wooten's campaign did not have the funds to pay him when he sent the 

campaign bills. Instead, he paid for Wooten's campaign out of pocket on the 

understanding that Wooten would raise money after being elected and repay him then. 

Kyle Swihart, the State's forensic-fraud analyst testified that, not only did the Carys never 

give money directly to Wooten, there was no documented instance in which the Carys 

gave money to a third party who then gave money to Wooten. Because there is no 

evidence that Wooten received money from the Carys or Spencer that she was required to 

disclose on her 200S PFS (Le., she received no money in her individual capacity), there is 

insufficient evidence to support Stacy's conviction for engaging in organized criminal 
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activity_ 

CONCLUSION 

Because there is insufficient evidence to ~upport Stacy's convictions for bribery, 

money laundering, and engaging in organized criminal activity, we reverse the judgment 

of the court of appeals and render acquittals on each count. 

Delivered: December 14, 2016 

Publish 
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Applican t  accepted the Sta te’s offer  and the cour t  sen tenced her  to 10 yea rs’ 

community supervision  on  eigh t  of the counts, and five years’ community 

supervision  on  the Tamper ing with  a  Governmenta l Record count . See id. 

Applican t  did not  change her  plea  of “not  gu ilty.” 

The Sta te la ter  prosecuted David and Stacy Cary as par t icipants in  the 

same a lleged scheme. See Stacy Cary v. Sta t e, 507 S.W.3d 750, 753–54 (Tex. 

Cr im. App. 2016) (descr ibing the a llega t ions and their  connect ion  to 

Applican t ); David Cary v. Sta te, 507 S.W.3d 761, 763 (Tex. Cr im. App. 2016). 

Both  were convicted of cr imes tha t  were la rgely iden t ica l to those for  which  

Applican t  was convicted; and pursuant  to substan t ively simila r  evidence. See 

Stacy Cary, 507 S.W.3d a t  753–54; David Cary, 507 S.W.3d a t  763. However , 

the Cour t  of Cr imina l Appea ls (CCA) u lt imately vaca ted David and Stacy 

Cary’s convict ions, finding tha t  t here was lega lly insufficien t  evidence to 

suppor t  t he respect ive ju ry verdict s, and rendered acquit ta ls. See Stacy Cary 

v. Sta te, 507 S.W.3d a t  761 (“[W]e rever se the judgment  of the cour t  of appea ls 

and render  acquit ta ls on  each  count .”); David Cary, 507 S.W.3d a t  768. 

A. The CCA’s holdings in  the Cary appea ls 

Given  the procedura l posture of the two appea ls (i.e., a ffirming and 

reversing two differen t  in termedia te appella te panels), the CCA provided 

sligh t ly differen t  ra t iona les for  each . The Stacy Cary holding is: 
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When the cor rect  defin it ion  of “polit ica l cont r ibu t ion” is u sed 
to examine the sufficiency of the evidence, no r a t iona l ju ry could 
have reasonably 10 believed tha t  Stacy sought  t o get  Wooten  
elected so the Carys could get  favorable t rea tment , bu t  tha t  Stacy 
had no in ten t ion  tha t  her  money wou ld be used to elect  Wooten . In  
other  words, the on ly benefit s confer red to Wooten  were t ransfers 
of funds from Stacy to Spencer  to fund Wooten’s campaign . As 
charged in  th is ca se, it  is insufficien t  to show tha t  a  person  
in ten t iona lly and knowingly offered a  benefit  as considera t ion  for  
the recipien t ’s exercise of officia l discret ion . Compare TEX. 
PENAL CODE § 36.02(a)(1)–(a)(2), with  id. § 36.02(a)(4). The 
sta tu te requ ires more. Ir respect ive of a  person’s in ten t  to “br ibe” 
someone, the legisla ture has decided tha t , if the benefit  offered to 
the recipien t  is a  polit ica l cont r ibu t ion , the actor  has not  
commit t ed br ibery a s charged in  th is ca se. . . . We hold tha t  there 
is insufficien t  evidence to susta in  Stacy’s convict ions for  br ibery 
under  any theory a lleged by the Sta te, and we susta in  her  fir st  
ground for  review. 

 
Stacy Cary, 507 S.W.3d a t  759 (emphasis added).  The David Cary holding is 

th is: 

The Sta te a lso contends tha t  t he r ecord suppor t s conflict ing 
in ferences as t o whether  the money offered to Wooten was a  
polit ica l cont r ibu t ion  and tha t , because appella te cour t s r esolve 
conflict ing in ferences in  favor  of the convict ion , the lower  cour t  
er red when  it  subst itu ted it s judgment  for  tha t  of the ju ry. It  is 
t rue tha t  appella te cour t s resolve conflict ing in ferences in  favor  of 
the convict ion , bu t  we conclude as t he cour t  of appea ls did tha t  the 
record in  th is case does not  suppor t  conflict ing in ferences. While a  
ra t iona l ju ry could have in fer red tha t  David offered money to 
Wooten  as considera t ion  for  her  decisions to en ter  the r ace, to 
cont inue her  campaign , and to render  ru lings favorable to the 
Carys, no ra t iona l ju ry could have a lso believed tha t  David br ibed 
Wooten  to get  elect ed to give the Carys favorable t rea tment , bu t  
tha t  he had no in ten t ion  tha t  Stacy’s $150,000 would be used in  
Wooten’s campaign . To accomplish  h is goa ls, Wooten  would have 
to be elected. 
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We hold tha t  the evidence is insu fficien t  to prove tha t  David 
commit t ed br ibery as cha rged because the Sta te fa iled to nega te 
the polit ica l-cont r ibu t ion  except ion . 

 
David Cary, 507 S.W.3d a t  767. 

In  sum, the CCA held tha t , according to the theor ies a lleged in  the 

indictment , Stacy and David necessar ily wanted and needed Applican t  to fir st  

get  elected as a  judge in  order  to advance their  corrupt  in ten t  tha t  Applican t  

issue favorable ru lings on  David’s beha lf. Hence, according to the CCA, a ll of 

the “cor rupt” payments to Applican t—which , a s charged were directed to 

Wooten’s campaign—must  have been  polit ica l cont r ibu t ions, as a  mat ter  of 

law. Sta ted differen t ly, if the in ten t  of a  payment  was necessa r ily to get  a  judge 

elected in  order  to advance the scheme, then  those paymen t s, in  fur therance of 

tha t  scheme, must  be “polit ica l cont r ibu t ions,” and the ju ry was on ly permit ted 

to find tha t  the Cary’s specific in ten t  was to elect  Applican t . 

 B. Ex par te Pera les 

The CCA’s decision  in  Ex par t e Pera les is relevant  here. Tha t  opin ion  

reads in  r elevant  pa r t : 

It  is well set t led tha t  a  cha llenge to the sufficiency of the 
evidence is not  cogn izable on  an  applica t ion  for  a  post -convict ion  
wr it  of habeas corpus. However , a  cla im of no evidence is 
cognizable because “[w]here there has been  no evidence upon  
which  to base a  convict ion , a  viola t ion  of due process has occur red 
and the convict ion  may be a t t acked colla tera lly in  a  habeas corpus 
proceeding.” If the record is devoid of evident ia ry suppor t  for  a  
convict ion , an  evident ia ry cha llenge is cognizable on  a  wr it  of 
habeas corpus. 
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We agree with  the Amar illo Cour t  of Appea ls’ conclusions 

tha t  an  a llega t ion  of delivery of a  cont rolled subst ance by actua l 
t ransfer  to an  unborn  ch ild cannot  const itu te delivery, wh ich  we 
have held “contempla tes the manual t ransfer  of proper ty from the 
t ransferor  to the t r ansferee or  t o the t ransferee's agents or  to 
someone ident ified in  law with  the t r ansferee.” We have a lso held 
tha t  such  a  t ransfer  occurs when  the defendant  t ransfers or  
sur renders actua l possession  and cont rol of a  cont rolled substance 
to another . Since such  an  actua l t ransfer  delivery from a  mother  
to her  unborn  ch ild is not  possible, we conclude tha t , a s a  mat ter  
of law, delivery by actua l t ransfer  a s a lleged did not  occur . 

 
Pera les, 215 S.W.3d a t  419–20 (in terna l cita t ions omit ted) 

Applica t ion  of Pera les to th is Ar t icle 11.072 applica t ion—by way of the 

Cary appea ls—works as follows: like the defendant  in  Pera les (who could not  

have commit ted the cr ime under  the CCA’s in terpreta t ion  of the “delivery” 

sta tu te)—as of the moment  the CCA const rued the r elevant  st a tu tes and 

issued it s opin ions in  the Cary appea ls—there could have been  no evidence 

tha t  tha t  the Cary-payments were not  polit ica l cont r ibu t ions.  

Moreover , the manner  in  which  the CCA acquit t ed Stacy Cary of 

Engaging in  Organized Cr imina l Act ivity a lso applies to Applican t . See e.g., 

Stacy Cary, 507 S.W.3d a t  761 (“Because there is no evidence tha t  Wooten  

received money from the Carys or  Spencer  tha t  she was required to disclose on  

her  2008 PFS (i.e., she received no money in  her  individua l capacity), there is 

insufficien t  evidence to suppor t  St acy’s convict ion  for  engaging in  organized 

cr imina l act ivity.”) (emphasis added). 
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 As a  resu lt , the Sta te agrees tha t  Pera les extends here, and tha t  as a  

resu lt  of t he ret roact ive effect  of the CCA’s decisions in  the Cary appea ls, t here 

could have been  no evidence to suppor t  Applican t ’s convict ions. 

III. The Cour t  should deny Applican t ’s supplementa l cla ims. 

 In  her  Applica t ion , Applican t  ra ises th ree “Supplementa l Lega l 

Challenges” to her  convict ions. See Am. Appl. At  11–16. Those supplemen ta l 

cha llenges a re: 

1. The t r ia l cour t  er red by not  gran t ing Applican t ’s mot ion  to quash  
the indictment  based on  the subst ance and the law; 
 

2. The t r ia l cour t  er red when  it  did not  gran t  Applican t ’s mot ion  for  
inst ructed verdict  a t  the t ime the Sta t e completed their  case in  
ch ief; and 
 

3. The t r ia l cour t  er red when it  den ied the Applican t  request ed ju ry 
charge amendments, more specifica lly to require the Sta te to prove 
beyond a  reasonable doubt  tha t  any funds pa id were not  polit ica l 
cont r ibu t ions. 

 
Am. Appl. At  11–16. These supplementa l cla ims should be denied. 

 “The Grea t  Writ  should not  be used in  mat ters tha t  should have been  

ra ised on  appea l. Even  a  const itu t iona l cla im is for feited if the applican t  had 

the oppor tun ity to r a ise the issue on  appea l.” Ex par te Townsend, 137 S.W.3d 

79, 81 (Tex. Cr im. App. 2004) (cit ing Ex par te Gardner , 959 S.W.2d 189, 191 

(Tex. Cr im. App. 1996)). Because each  of the th ree supplementa l cla ims could 

have been  ra ised on  direct  appea l—which  Applican t  wa ived—they cannot  be 

ra ised in  sta te habeas, and must  be den ied. See id. 







 

 

 

 

E xh ib it  A 

St a t e ’s  An sw e r  
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NO. 366-81639-2011 

SUZANNE H. WOOTEN § IN THE DISTRICT COURT 
§ 

v. § 366TH JUDICIAL DISTRICf 
§ 

STATE OF TEXAS § COLLIN COUNTY, TEXAS 

ORDER ON APPLICANT'S FIRST AMENDED 11,072 WRIT oC 
HABEAS CORPUS DECLARING ACTUAL INNOCENCE u." %: 

AS A MATTER OF LAW . c.. 
.:r 

Upon consideration of Suzanne H. Wooten's (Applicant) First Amended II.QU\VriDjf 

Habeas Corpus Declaring Actual Innocence as a Matter of Law and the Response ~y ~ 
State of Texas where the State agrees that the relief requested should be granted, the Court hereby 

GRANTS the Applicant's requested relief. 

The Court FINDS that the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals, in its dedsions in Stacy 

Stine Cary v. State, 507 S.W.3d 750 (Tex. Crim. App. 2016) and in David Cary v. State, 507 

S.W.3d 761 (Tex. Crim. App. 2016), acquitted those co-defendants in this case on all counts 

(which were substantially identical to the charges against the Applicant), finding the evidence 

presented legally insufficient because the allegations, even if true, were not crimes under Texas 

law. The Court FINDS that those Opinions by the highest criminal court in the State of Texas 

are directly relevant to the Applicant's case and require the Court to GRANT the relief 

requested. 

The Court FURTHER FINDS that, in light of Stacy Stine Cary v. State , 507 S.W.3d 750 

(Tex. Crim. App. 2016) and David Cary v. State, 507 S.W.3d 761 (Tex. Crim. App. 2016), the 

evidence presented at Applicant' s trial was legally insufficient to convict her of the following 

nine (9) felony convictions: one (I) count of Conspiracy to Commit Engaging in Organized 

\ \\tIlLUIII/IJ'11 

Criminal Activity, six (6) counts of Bribery, one (I ) count of Money Laundering, an~"p~~~>.r. ... C?2.(;",~, 
S'~~./ ~···~A 

count of Tampering with a Governmental Record with Intent to DefraudIHarm. nt*~6urt .... \*\ 
therefore FINDS a violation of Applicant' s due process rights. \i\.. . ... /~i 

'1.,C'!o······ ...... ,,~ 
Order on First Amended II .D72 Wril or HAbeu Corpus. 366-81639·2011 ..... ' .. " .. ~~2N··c·6·u· · ·~~~\\\$ 
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The Court FURTHER FINDS that Article 11.072 of the Texas Code of Criminal Procedure 

is the appropriate means for Applicant to obtain relief in this maUer, as the Court of Criminal 

Appeals ruled on December 14,2016, more than five years after Applicant was convicted of the 

charges listed above, that the allegations brought against Applicant in the Indictment, even if true, 

were not crimes under Texas law. An acquiual is therefore appropriate. See generally Ex parte 

Perales, 215 S.W.3d 418 (Tex. Crim. App. 2007). Because relief is granted, it is not necessary for 

the Court to review the "Supplemental Legal Challenges" alleged in the Applicant's Application. 

Therefore, those "Supplemental Legal Challenges" contained in the Application are denied. 

THEREFORE, based upon these findings, IT IS ORDERED, DECREED, AND 

ADJUDGED that each and every of the nine (9) felony convictions of Applicant, the Honorable 

Suzanne H. Wooten, in this cause are immediately VACATED, that the convictions in this cause 

are void ab initio, and that the Applicant is DECLARED, DECREED, AND ORDERED 

ACOUITTED OF EACH AND EVERY ALLEGATION CONTAINED IN THE 

INDICTMENT. The State ofTexas is FURTHER ORDERED that it is prohibited from any 

further prosecution of the Applicant based on the instant indictment. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED 

that any legal disabilities rendered against Applicant as a result of the convictions in this cause are 

VOID and ORDERED SET ASIDE and that the Applicant be immediately provided all release 

and relief from those legal disabilities. 

IT IS SO ORDERED,this the 24th day of MAY, 2017. 

JUDGE PRESIDING 

Order on First Amended 11 .072 Wril of Habeas COC'pUS. 366-81639·2011 
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